
 
 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF 
 THE CITY OF BURNET 

 
Notice is hereby given that a Special City Council Meeting will be held by the governing 
body of the City of Burnet on the 19th day of May, 2020 at 3:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers, 
Burnet Municipal Airport, 2402 S. Water, Burnet, Tx.  In order to advance the public health 
goal of limiting face-to-face meetings (also called “social distancing”) to slow the spread of 
the Coronavirus (COVID-19),  a Declaration of a Public Health Emergency was executed by 
Mayor Bromley on March 19, 2020. The Council Chambers will be closed to public 
attendance. A Zoom Webinar with toll free conference call capability has been established 
for access as follows:  
 
Computer: Please click the link below to join the webinar:  
 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81290266270?pwd=YWN6SldTdy9jdExJdnVqSTNEZm1ldz09 
 
OR:  Go to: www.zoom.us 
Enter Webinar ID when prompted: 812 9026 6270 # 
Enter Password when prompted:  399019 # 
 
If you would like to address the Council with a Public Comment while logged-in online, please 
use the “raise your hand” feature. 
 
By Telephone Call: 888-475-4499 or 877-853-5257 (Toll Free Numbers) 
Enter Webinar ID when prompted: 812 9026 6270 # 
Enter Password when prompted: 399019 # 
 
If you would like to address the Council with a Public Comment while dialed in via telephone, 
please use the “raise your hand” feature, by pressing *9 while on the phone. 
 
This meeting of the governing body will be streamed on the City of Burnet Facebook page.  
 
This notice is posted pursuant to the Texas Government Code, Chapter §551-Open 
Meetings. 
 
The following subjects will be discussed, to-wit: 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 
 
ROLL CALL:     

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81290266270?pwd=YWN6SldTdy9jdExJdnVqSTNEZm1ldz09


1. CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS:  
 

(All of the following items on the Consent Agenda are considered to be self-explanatory by 
the Council and will be enacted with one motion.  There will be no separate discussion of 
these items unless a Council Member, staff member or citizen requests removal of the item 
from the consent agenda for the purpose of discussion.  For removal of an item, a request 
must be made to the Council when the Consent Agenda is opened for Council Action.)  
 
 1.1) Approval of the May 12th, 2020 Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 
 
2. ACTION ITEMS: 

2.1) Discuss and consider action: Direction to staff and authorization for the City Manager 
to execute processes/plans due to the COVID-19 response: D. Vaughn 
 
2.2) Discuss and consider action: Updated Financial Projections as of April 30, 2020: D. 
Vaughn 
 
2.3) Discuss and consider action: Direction to staff pertaining to utility accounts: D. 
Vaughn 
 
2.4) Discuss and consider action: A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE SUBMISSION 
APPLICATION FOR AND ACCEPTANCE OF THE PAYMENT OF FUNDS FOR THE 
FEDERAL CORONA VIRUS AID, RELIEF, AND ECONOMIC SECURITY (CARES) ACT 
GRANT CONGRESS APPROVED FOR DISBURSEMENT TO STATE AND LOCAL 
GOVERNMENTS; AND, AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE 
DOCUMENTS AND TAKE ACTIONS TO FACILITATE SUCH ACCEPTANCE: D. Vaughn 

 
3. REPORTS: 
 

3.1) Addendum to the City Council Agenda: Department and Committee 
Reports/Briefings: The City Council may or may not receive a briefing dependent upon 
activity or change in status regarding the matter. The listing is provided to give notice to 
the public that a briefing to the Council on any or all subjects may occur. 
 
 3.1(A.5) Police Chief Hiring Process Update Report: D. Vaughn 
 
 3.1(F.3) Fire Department Update Report-Fire Calls: M. Ingram 
 

4.  REQUESTS FROM COUNCIL FOR FUTURE REPORTS:  

5.  ADJOURN:             
           Dated this 15th, day, of May, 2020 
             
           CITY OF BURNET 
             
      CRISTA GOBLE BROMLEY, MAYOR 



 
I, the undersigned authority, do hereby certify that the above NOTICE OF MEETING of the 
governing body of the above named City, BURNET, is a true and correct copy of said 
NOTICE and that I posted a true and correct copy of said NOTICE on the bulletin board, in 
the City Hall of said City, BURNET, TEXAS, a place convenient and readily accessible to the 
general public at all times, and said NOTICE was posted on May 15th, 2020, at or before 3 
o’clock p.m. and remained posted continuously for at least 72 hours preceding the scheduled 
time of said Meeting. 
 
 
 

_____________________________________                                                     
 Kelly Dix, City Secretary 

 
NOTICE OF ASSISTANCE AT THE PUBLIC MEETINGS: 
The City Council Chamber is wheelchair accessible. Persons with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting and who may need auxiliary 
aids or services, such as interpreters for persons who are deaf or hearing impaired, readers, or large print, are requested to contact the 
City Secretary’s office (512.756.6093) at least two working days prior to the meeting. Requests for information may be faxed to the City 
Secretary at 512.756.8560. 
 
RIGHT TO ENTER INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
The City Council for the City of Burnet reserves the right to adjourn into executive session at any time during the course of this meeting to 
discuss any of the matters listed above, as authorized by Texas Government Code Sections 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney), 551.072 
(Deliberations about Real Property), 551.073 (Deliberations about Gifts and Donations), 551.074 (Personnel Matters), 551.076 
(Deliberations about Security Devices) and 551.087 (Economic Development). 



STATE OF TEXAS  {}       
COUNTY OF BURNET {}    
CITY OF BURNET  {} 
 
On this the 12th day of  May, 2020, the City Council of the City of Burnet, TX convened in Regular Session, at 
3:00 p.m., at the regular meeting place thereof. In order to advance the public health goal of limiting face-to-face 
meetings (also called “social distancing”) to slow the spread of the Coronavirus (COVID-19),  a Declaration of a 
Public Health Emergency was executed by Mayor Bromley on March 19, 2020. The Council Chambers will be 
closed to public attendance. This meeting of the governing body will be streamed on the City of Burnet Facebook 
page allowing citizens to post questions to be presented to the City Council.  A telephone conference line has 
been established for access via telephone by calling 888-475-4499 Pin 203165; the following subjects were 
discussed, to-wit:   
Mayor      Crista Goble Bromley (present in chambers)  
Council Members call in on conference: Danny Lester, Paul Farmer, Cindia Talamantez 

 Joyce Laudenschlager, Tres Clinton, Mary Jane Shanes, Philip 
Thurman 

City Manager     David Vaughn 
City Secretary     Kelly Dix 
Guests:  Mark Ingram, Habib Erkan, Adrienne Field (present in Chambers) Gene Courtney, Jason Davis, James 
Wilson, Louise Lary, Ann Riddell, Kelli Sames, Alex Copeland, Michael Quinones, Jason Lutz, Patricia Langford 
(via Zoom call)  
CALL TO ORDER:  The meeting was called to order by Mayor Bromley, at 3:00 p.m.   
ROLL CALL: City Secretary Kelly Dix called the Roll. Mayor Bromley was present in Chambers. Council 
Member Shanes, Farmer, Clinton, Talamantez, Lester, Thurman and Laudenschlager called in on the zoom 
conference. Quorum was established. 
CANVASS ELECTION: 
Discuss and consider action:  A RESOLUTION AND ORDER BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BURNET, 
TEXAS, CANVASSING THE MAY 2, 2020 GENERAL ELECTION FOR THREE CITY COUNCIL MEMBER 
POSITIONS; DECLARING CANDIDATES ELECTED AT LARGE;  MAKING FINDINGS OF FACT; PROVIDING 
AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE AND FOR OTHER MATTERS: K. Dix: Council Member Paul Farmer made a 
motion to approve and adopt Resolution R2020-11 as presented.  Council Member Mary Jane Shanes seconded. 
City Secretary Kelly Dix called a roll vote.  Council Members Lester, Shanes, Laudenschlager, Clinton, Farmer, 
Talamantez and Mayor Bromley all voted in favor. The motion carried unanimously. 
RECOGNITION: 
Recognition of Council Member Joyce Laudenschlager: Mayor Crista Goble Bromley:  Mayor Crista Bromley, 
City Manager David Vaughn and all of the Council Members present, thanked Joyce Laudenschlager for her 
dedicated service to the City of Burnet for the six years she has served on the City Council. Joyce Laudenschlager 
expressed her thanks and best wishes to all present. 
OATH OF OFFICE: 
The Oath of Office will be administered to, Danny Lester, Council Member: K. Dix: City Secretary Kelly Dix 
administered the Oath of Office to Council Member Danny Lester.   
The Oath of Office will be administered to, Mary Jane Shanes, Council Member: K. Dix: City Secretary Kelly Dix 
administered the Oath of Office to Council Member Mary Jane Shanes.   
The Oath of Office will be administered to, Philip Thurman, Council Member: K. Dix: City Secretary Kelly Dix 
administered the Oath of Office to Council Member Philip Thurman.   
REPORTS/SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS:  
Proclamation: Motorcycle Awareness: Mayor Crista Goble Bromley: Mayor Bromley presented a proclamation 
declaring May 2020, Motorcycle Awareness Month in the City of Burnet. 
CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS:  
(All of the following items on the Consent Agenda are considered to be self-explanatory by the Council and will 
be enacted with one motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a Council Member, staff 
member or citizen requests removal of the item from the consent agenda for the purpose of discussion.  For 



removal of an item, a request must be made to the Council when the Consent Agenda is opened for Council 
Action.) 
Approval of the April 28th, 2020 Regular City Council Meeting minutes 
Council Member Cindia Talamantez moved to approve the consent agenda as presented.  Council Member Danny 
Lester seconded. City Secretary Kelly Dix called a roll vote.  Council Members Lester, Shanes, Thurman Clinton, 
Farmer, Talamantez and Mayor Bromley all voted in favor. The motion carried unanimously. 
PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
Public Hearing: Proposed amendments to the City of Burnet Code of Ordinances Chapter 118 – “Zoning:”, Section 
118-20, Chart 1 for the purpose of revising minimum front yard setbacks, minimum side yard setbacks, and minimum 
street side yard setbacks for the Light Commercial (C-1), Medium Commercial (C-2), and Heavy Commercial (C-3 
zoning districts: J. Lutz: Mayor Bromley opened the public hearing and asked if anyone was interested in speaking, 
if so to raise their hand. There being no one wishing to speak, Mayor Bromley closed the public hearing. 
Public Hearing:  A request to rezone property located at the northeast intersection of N. Vanderveer St. and E. Post 
Oak Street, which is further described as lots 3-A and 3-B, Block 24, of the Peter Kerr Portion.  The request is to 
rezone the property from its present designation of Single Family Residential – District (R-1) to a designation of 
Townhomes — District (R-2A): J. Lutz: Mayor Bromley opened the public hearing and asked if anyone was 
interested in speaking, if so to raise their hand. There being no one wishing to speak, Mayor Bromley closed the 
public hearing. 
Public Hearing: For requested variances for Wandering Oaks Circle located off County Road 100 in Oak Vista 
Subdivision (Legal Description:  Lot numbers 80-83, 95-99, and lot 130).  The requested variances are as follows:   

• Chapter 98 – Subdivisions, Sec. 98-42 Transportation Improvements, requiring all streets to be 
designed and constructed according to the City’s TCSS, in order to allow chip seal paving. 

• Chapter 98 – Subdivisions, Sec. 98-42 Transportation Improvements, requiring curbs to be installed 
on both sides of all interior streets. 

• Chapter 98 – Subdivisions, Sec. 98-42 Street Lighting, required to be installed in the subdivision. 
Mayor Bromley opened the public hearing and asked if anyone was interested in speaking, if so to raise their 
hand. Louise Lary addressed the Council via Zoom and expressed her thanks to the Planning and Zoning 
Commission, City Manager and Director of Development Services for their assistance with this process and 
requested approval of the variances as presented in order to finish this project started by her late husband Cam 
Lary. There being no one else wishing to speak, Mayor Bromley closed the public hearing. 
ACTION ITEMS: 
Discuss and consider action: SECOND AND FINAL READING OF AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BURNET, 
TEXAS, AMENDING ORDINANCE 2019-24; THE ORIGINAL BUDGET ORDINANCE FOR THE FISCAL 
YEAR BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 2019, AND ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2020 FOR THE CITY OF BURNET, 
TEXAS, FUNDING ACCOUNTS IN BUDGET DUE TO UNFORESEEN SITUATIONS; CONTAINING 
FINDINGS PROVIDING FOR SAVINGS AND SEVERABILITY: P. Langford: Council Member Paul Farmer 
moved to approve and adopt Ordinance 2020-10 as presented.  Council Member Mary Jane Shanes seconded. 
City Secretary Kelly Dix called a roll vote.  Council Members Lester, Shanes, Thurman, Clinton, Farmer, 
Talamantez and Mayor Bromley all voted in favor. The motion carried unanimously. 
Discuss and consider action: AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BURNET, TEXAS 
EXTENDING A DECLARATION OF LOCAL DISASTER; ESTABLISHING RULES AND REGULATIONS FOR 
THE DURATION OF THE DISASTER; RESTRICTING CERTAIN ACTIVITIES: D. Vaughn: Council Member 
Danny Lester moved to approve and adopt ordinance 2020-11 as presented.  Council Member Mary Jane Shanes 
seconded. City Secretary Kelly Dix called a roll vote.  Council Members Lester, Shanes, Thurman, Clinton, 
Farmer, Talamantez and Mayor Bromley all voted in favor. The motion carried unanimously. 
Discuss and consider action: A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER OF ALL CITY RIGHTS, TITLE 
AND INTEREST TO A 0.34 ACRE TRACT TO THE ABUTTING PROPERTY OWNER, HCR ELECTRONICS, 
BY QUIT CLAIM INSTRUMENT, SAVE AND EXCEPT THE RESERVATION OF PUBLIC UTILITY 
EASEMENT, SAVE AND EXCEPT THE RESERVATION OF PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT: D. Vaughn: 
Council Member Tres Clinton made a motion to approve and adopt Resolution R2020-12 as presented.  Council 
Member Paul Farmer seconded. City Secretary Kelly Dix called a roll vote.  Council Members Lester, Shanes, 
Thurman, Clinton, Farmer, Talamantez and Mayor Bromley all voted in favor. The motion carried unanimously. 



Discuss and consider action: A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE TRANSFER OF ALL CITY RIGHTS, TITLE 
AND INTEREST TO A 0.199 ACRE TRACT TO THE ABUTTING PROPERTY OWNER, GMSM LTD., BY QUIT 
CLAIM INSTRUMENT, SAVE AND EXCEPT THE RESERVATION OF PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT: D. 
Vaughn: Council Member Cindia Talamantez made a motion to approve and adopt Resolution R2020-13 as 
presented.  Council Member Mary Jane Shanes seconded. City Secretary Kelly Dix called a roll vote.  Council 
Members Lester, Shanes, Thurman, Clinton, Farmer, Talamantez and Mayor Bromley all voted in favor. The 
motion carried unanimously. 
Discuss and consider action: A request for variances for Wandering Oaks Circle located off County Road 100 in Oak 
Vista Subdivision (Legal Description:  Lot numbers 80-83, 95-99, and lot 130): J. Lutz: Council Member Danny Lester 
moved to approve the variances for Wandering Oaks Circle located off County Road 100 in Oak Vista Subdivision 
(Legal Description:  Lot numbers 80-83, 95-99, and lot 130) as presented. Council Member Tres Clinton seconded. 
City Secretary Kelly Dix called a roll vote.  Council Members Lester, Shanes, Thurman, Clinton, Farmer, 
Talamantez and Mayor Bromley all voted in favor. The motion carried unanimously. 
Discuss and consider action: A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE RELEASE AND TERMINATION OF A 0.349 
ACRE PUBLIC UTILITY EASEMENT RECORDED IN VOLUME 693, PAGE 357 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS 
OF THE COUNTY CLERK OF BURNET COUNTY, TEXAS: J. Lutz: Council Member Danny Lester made a 
motion to approve and adopt Resolution R2020-14 as presented.  Council Member Paul Farmer seconded. City 
Secretary Kelly Dix called a roll vote.  Council Members Lester, Shanes, Thurman, Clinton, Farmer, Talamantez 
and Mayor Bromley all voted in favor. The motion carried unanimously 
REQUESTS FROM COUNCIL FOR FUTURE REPORTS: None. 
ADJOURN:  There being no further business a motion to adjourn was made by Council Member Mary Jane 
Shanes at 3:49 p.m., seconded by Council Member Cindia Talamantez. City Secretary Kelly Dix called a roll 
vote.  Council Members Lester, Shanes, Thurman, Clinton, Farmer, Talamantez and Mayor Bromley all voted in 
favor. The motion carried unanimously. 
               
               
         ___________________________ 
         Crista Goble Bromley, Mayor 
ATTEST:        
  
       
_______________________ 
Kelly Dix, City Secretary  



 
 

 
Administration 

 

 
ITEM 2.1 
 
David Vaughn 
City Manager 
(512)-715-3208 
dvaughn@cityofburnet.com 

 
Agenda Item Brief 

 
 

Meeting Date:  May 19, 2020 
 
Agenda Item: Discuss and consider action Direction to staff and authorization 

for the City Manager to execute processes/plans due to the 
COVID-19 response: D. Vaughn 

 
Background: To be provided by the City Manager at the meeting. 
 
Information:  
 
Fiscal Impact:  
  
Recommendation:  To be determined by Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
Administration 

 

 
ITEM 2.2 
 
David Vaughn 
City Manager 
(512)-715-3208 
dvaughn@cityofburnet.com 

 
Agenda Item Brief 

 
 

Meeting Date:  May 19, 2020 
 
Agenda Item: Discuss and consider action: Updated Financial Projections as of 

April 30, 2020: D. Vaughn 
 
Background:  
 
Information: Staff is still in the process of updating the financial projections 

at the time of posting the agenda and will send them to Council 
as soon as the projections are ready. 

 
Fiscal Impact:  
  
Recommendation:  To be determined by Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
Administration 

 

 
ITEM 2.3 
 
David Vaughn 
City Manager 
(512)-715-3208 
dvaughn@cityofburnet.com 

 
Agenda Item Brief 

 
 

Meeting Date:  May 19, 2020 
 
Agenda Item: Discuss and consider action: Direction to staff pertaining to 

utility accounts: D. Vaughn 
 
Background:  
 
Information: Staff is seeking guidance from Council on how to handle 

delinquent/late utility payments and will present more 
information at the time of the meeting. 

 
Fiscal Impact: To be determined. 
  
Recommendation:  To be determined. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
Administration 

 

 
ITEM 2.4 
 
David Vaughn 
City Manager 
(512)-715-3208 
dvaughn@cityofburnet.com 

 
Agenda Item Brief 

 
 

Meeting Date:  May 19, 2020 
 
Agenda Item: Discuss and consider action: A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING 

THE SUBMISSION APPLICATION FOR AND ACCEPTANCE 
OF THE PAYMENT OF FUNDS FOR THE FEDERAL 
CORONA VIRUS AID, RELIEF, AND ECONOMIC SECURITY 
(CARES) ACT GRANT CONGRESS APPROVED FOR 
DISBURSEMENT TO STATE AND LOCAL GOVERNMENTS; 
AND, AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE 
DOCUMENTS AND TAKE ACTIONS TO FACILITATE SUCH 
ACCEPTANCE: D. Vaughn 

 
Background:  
 
Information: If approved, the CFR Grant would provide up to $55 per capita 

in grant assistance to help with COVID-19 related expenses. 
 
Fiscal Impact: Up to $55 per capita in reimbursement for expenses related to 

COVID-19. 
  
Recommendation:  Approve and adopt Resolution R2020-15 as presented. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
RESOLUTION N0. R2020-15 

 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE SUBMISSION APPLICATION FOR 
AND ACCEPTANCE OF THE PAYMENT OF FUNDS FOR THE FEDERAL 
CORONA VIRUS AID, RELIEF, AND ECONOMIC SECURITY (CARES) 
ACT GRANT CONGRESS APPROVED FOR DISBURSEMENT TO STATE 
AND LOCAL GOVERNMENTS; AND, AUTHORIZING THE CITY 
MANAGER TO EXECUTE DOCUMENTS AND TAKE ACTIONS TO 
FACILITATE SUCH ACCEPTANCE 

 
 Whereas, the COVID-19 pandemic has caused a public health emergency in the 
City of Burnet; and 
 
 Whereas, in response to this public health emergency the Mayor and City Council 
have issued emergency declarations, proclamations and orders; and 
 
 Whereas, this public health emergency, has had a significant adverse impact on all 
aspects of the City’s economy, including the loss of jobs, and loss of business revenue; 
and 
 
 Whereas, the City has experienced significant expenditures in response to this 
public health emergency; and 
 
 Whereas, on May 11, 2020, Governor Gregg Abbott announced that one billion-
eighty-five million dollars in Federal CARE Act Funding was made available to provide 
Corona Virus aid, relief and economic security to States and local governments; and 
 
 Whereas, City Council finds the implementation of 2020 CARE Act projects and 
programs in the 2019-2020 fiscal year vital to the financial recovery of the City, its citizens 
and small businesses; and  
 
 Whereas, City Council finds Federal CARE Act Funding vital to the success of the 
implementation of the aforementioned projects and programs; and  
 
 Whereas, City Council’s purpose in adopting this Resolution is to memorialize 
Council’s: (i) authorization to file the application for CARE Act Funding, including all 
understandings and assurances contained therein; (ii) designation of the City Manager as 
Council’s official representative; and, (iii) direction and authorization to the City Manager to 
act in connection with the application and to provide such additional information as may be 
required to qualify for funding. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF BURNET, TEXAS:  
 
 Section one.  The recitals to this Resolution are incorporated herein for all purposes. 
 
 Section two.  The submission and acceptance of a grant application to the Texas 
Division of Emergency Management (TDEM) for the Coronavirus Relief Fund (CFR) 
Response Project (hereinafter “project”) is hereby authorized. 
 
 Section three.  The City Manager is hereby designated as the City’s authorized 
official and is delegated the authority to apply for, accept, reject, alter or terminate the grant 



on behalf of the City.  The City Manager is further authorized to execute such documents 
and take such other actions reasonably necessary to facilitate the purpose of this 
Resolution. 
 
 Section four.  In the management of any grant funds received the City Manager is 
hereby authorized and directed to comply with all requirements of the CFR terms and 
conditions, including requirements referenced within the CFR terms and conditions. 
 
 Section five.  The City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to assure the 
provision of matching funds for the project are available in the fiscal budget and present to 
City Council any necessary budget amendments required to provide such matching funds. 
  
 Section six. This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage, and 
approval as prescribed by law. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BURNET, TEXAS, 
THIS 19th DAY OF MAY, 2020. 
 

      CITY OF BURNET, TEXAS 
 
 
        

       Crista Goble Bromley, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Kelly Dix, City Secretary  
 
 
 
 



‘i’D)

STATE OF TEXAS

May 11,2020

Dear County and City Leaders:

Thank you for your continued work to combat the coronavirus and address the ancillary effects
of that fight in your communities. These are tremendously difficult times for all Texans. Please
know that the elected representatives in your state government are working continuously to
protect the health and safety of this state, mitigate the economic ramifications of C OVID-i 9, and
build a path towards recovery.

As you are keenly aware, Congress passed the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security
(CARES) Act to provide much needed resources to help governments, businesses, and
individuals respond to the current pandemic. President Trump signed the CARES Act into law
and his administration continues to provide guidance on the numerous avenues of federal
funding the legislation provides. Within the CARES Act, the Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF)
was created to provide financial resources to state and local governments. As it relates to the
CRF, Texas has received approximately $11.24 billion from the United States Department of
Treasury (Treasury) for direct coronavirus related expenses based on the funding formula
provided in the CARES Act.

Consistent with the CARES Act, 45 percent of the total $11.24 billion state allocation—
approximately $5.06 billion—will be made available to local governments. Of that $5.06 billion,
Treasury has directly sent just over $3.2 billion to the six cities and 12 counties in Texas with a
population greater than 500,000. That leaves approximately $1.85 billion that the state can make
available to the cities and counties in the rest of the state.

Counties below 500,000 population and the Cities withi,, then;

The 242 counties, and each of the cities within those counties, that did not receive direct
allocations from Treasury are eligible to apply to the state for a per capita allocation from the
$1.85 billion. Cities with a population less than 500,000 located in counties with a population
exceeding 500,000 are addressed later in this letter. County allocations will be calculated based
on the population in the unincorporated areas of the county. We encourage cities and counties to
work together to address expenses that cross jurisdictional lines.



County and City Leaders
May H, 2020
Page 3

The first allocation from the $1.85 billion in local funds will be made available to these cities and
counties on a $55 per capita allotment. Twenty percent of each jurisdiction’s allocation will be
available immediately upon certification to the State that grant terms will be followed.
Importantly, Treasury has provided strict guidelines for local governments to receive funds.
Treasury affirmed that the State can transfer funds to local governments ‘provided that the
transfer qualifies as a necessary expenditure incurred due to the public health emergency and
meets the other criteria of section 60 1(d) of the Social Security Act. Such funds would be
subject to recoupment by the Treasury Department if they have not been used in a manner
consistent with section 60 1(d) of the Social Security Act.” Treasury has also instructed that
“funds may not be used to fill shortfalls in government revenue to cover expenditures that would
not otherwise qualify as an eligible expenditure.” Also, all costs must be incurred before
December 30, 2020, to qualify fbr funding.

Once jurisdictions provide documentation on the initial funding, they will then be able to access
the remainder of their allocation on a reimbursement basis. The unallocated funds will be
reserved for local expenses as future outbreaks and the long-term impacts of C OVID- 19 are
better known.

Cities below 500,000 population wit/tin Counties exceeding 500,000 population

The direct Treasury disbursements to the 12 counties were calculated based on their population,
less the total population inside cities larger than 500,000 that reside within those counties. In the
same way that cities and counties across the rest of the state will be provided funding on a per
capita basis, and are encouraged to work together to address expenses that cross jurisdictional
lines, the 12 counties that received direct funding from Treasury based on the total number of
residents in their counties (excluding those in the six largest cities) are expected to use their
funds to address expenses incurred by incorporated areas with a population less than 500,000
that are located in those counties as well as the needs of residents in unincorporated areas of
those counties. Each of the incorporated areas located in a county that received a direct
allocation from Treasury should seek funding for COVID-19 expenses directly from that county.

How to Apply

The Texas Division of Emergency Management (TDEM) will administer the reimbursement
process for the CRF. TDEM is partnering with Texas A&M AgriLife Extension to provide
individual assistance to each of you throughout the process, and that work is already underway.
All of the information to apply for the CRF, as well as guidance about eligible uses, can be found
at the following website: www.tdem.texas.gov/crf. Questions can also be emailed to TDEM at
CR F(i)tdern.texas.gov.



County and City Leaders
May ii, 2020
Page 3

Thank you again for your work on behalf of your residents. All Texans expect government to
work in a unified fashion to address this unprecedented situation, and we will continue to do so.
We understand there will be numerous questions, and we are committed to working through
them with you. In the meantime, please refer to the TDEM website for guidance.

Sincerely,

/4âq LJ2LL
Governor Greg Abbott Lt. Governor Dan Patrick Speaker Dennis Bonnen

Senator Jane Nelson Representative Giovanni Capriglione
Chair, Senate Finance Committee Chair, House Appropriations Committee

Senator Juan Chuy Hinojosa Representative Oscar Longoria
Vice-Chair, Senate Finance Committee Vice-Chair, House Appropriations Committee



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Anderson County 57,735 36,318 $1,997,490 $399,498
Elkhart 1,314 1,314 $72,270 $14,454
Frankston 1,221 1,221 $67,155 $13,431
Palestine 18,882 18,882 $1,038,510 $207,702

21,417

Andrews County 18,705 4,052 $222,860 $44,572
Andrews 14,653 14,653 $805,915 $161,183

14,653

Angelina County 86,715 35,532 $1,954,260 $390,852
Burke 764 764 $42,020 $8,404
Diboll 5,378 5,378 $295,790 $59,158
Hudson 5,051 5,051 $277,805 $55,561
Huntington 2,201 2,201 $121,055 $24,211
Lufkin 37,047 37,047 $2,037,585 $407,517
Zavalla 742 742 $40,810 $8,162

51,183

Aransas County 23,510 11,114 $611,270 $122,254
Aransas Pass 733 733 $40,315 $8,063
Fulton 1,419 1,419 $78,045 $15,609
Rockport 10,244 10,244 $563,420 $112,684

12,396

Archer County 8,553 2,649 $145,695 $29,139
Archer City 1,929 1,929 $106,095 $21,219
Holliday 1,792 1,792 $98,560 $19,712
Lakeside City (Archer) 1,094 1,094 $60,170 $12,034
Megargel 198 198 $10,890 $2,178
Scotland 523 523 $28,765 $5,753
Windthorst 368 368 $20,240 $4,048

5,904

Armstrong County 1,887 653 $35,915 $7,183
Claude 1,234 1,234 $67,870 $13,574

1,234

Atascosa County 51,153 25,280 $1,390,400 $278,080
Charlotte 1,842 1,842 $101,310 $20,262
Christine 435 435 $23,925 $4,785
Jourdanton 4,532 4,532 $249,260 $49,852
Lytle 2,394 2,394 $131,670 $26,334
Pleasanton 10,794 10,794 $593,670 $118,734
Poteet 3,482 3,482 $191,510 $38,302
Lytle 2,394 2,394 $131,670 $26,334

25,873

Austin County 30,032 15,479 $851,345 $170,269
Bellville 4,523 4,523 $248,765 $49,753
Brazos Country 494 494 $27,170 $5,434
Industry 337 337 $18,535 $3,707
San Felipe 874 874 $48,070 $9,614



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Sealy 6,946 6,946 $382,030 $76,406
Wallis 1,379 1,379 $75,845 $15,169

14,553

Bailey County 7,000 1,739 $95,645 $19,129
Muleshoe 5,261 5,261 $289,355 $57,871

5,261

Bandera County 23,112 22,156 $1,218,580 $243,716
Bandera 956 956 $52,580 $10,516

956

Bastrop County 88,723 65,777 $3,617,735 $723,547
Bastrop 9,211 9,211 $506,605 $101,321
Elgin 9,177 9,177 $504,735 $100,947
Smithville 4,558 4,558 $250,690 $50,138

22,946

Baylor County 3,509 743 $40,865 $8,173
Seymour 2,766 2,766 $152,130 $30,426

2,766

Bee County 32,565 19,121 $1,051,655 $210,331
Beeville 13,444 13,444 $739,420 $147,884

13,444

Bell County 362,924 58,377 $3,210,735 $642,147
Bartlett 711 711 $39,105 $7,821
Belton 22,281 22,281 $1,225,455 $245,091
Harker Heights 32,534 32,534 $1,789,370 $357,874
Holland 1,157 1,157 $63,635 $12,727
Killeen 151,547 151,547 $8,335,085 $1,667,017
Little River-Academy 2,076 2,076 $114,180 $22,836
Moody 1,426 1,426 $78,430 $15,686
Morgan's Point Resort 4,702 4,702 $258,610 $51,722
Nolanville 5,540 5,540 $304,700 $60,940
Rogers 1,226 1,226 $67,430 $13,486
Salado 2,096 2,096 $115,280 $23,056
Temple 77,295 77,295 $4,251,225 $850,245
Troy 1,956 1,956 $107,580 $21,516

304,547

Blanco County 11,931 7,634 $419,870 $83,974
Blanco 2,052 2,052 $112,860 $22,572
Johnson City 2,059 2,059 $113,245 $22,649
Round Mountain 186 186 $10,230 $2,046

4,297



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation

Borden County 654 654 $35,970 $7,194
654

Bosque County 18,685 10,344 $568,920 $113,784
Clifton 3,562 3,562 $195,910 $39,182
Cranfills Gap 289 289 $15,895 $3,179
Iredell 340 340 $18,700 $3,740
Meridian 1,511 1,511 $83,105 $16,621
Morgan 515 515 $28,325 $5,665
Valley Mills 1,197 1,197 $65,835 $13,167
Walnut Springs 927 927 $50,985 $10,197

8,341

Bowie County 93,245 31,918 $1,755,490 $351,098
De Kalb 1,712 1,712 $94,160 $18,832
Hooks 2,774 2,774 $152,570 $30,514
Leary 491 491 $27,005 $5,401
Maud 1,079 1,079 $59,345 $11,869
Nash 3,858 3,858 $212,190 $42,438
New Boston 4,660 4,660 $256,300 $51,260
Red Lick 1,054 1,054 $57,970 $11,594
Redwater 1,126 1,126 $61,930 $12,386
Texarkana 38,816 38,816 $2,134,880 $426,976
Wake Village 5,757 5,757 $316,635 $63,327

61,327

Brazoria County 374,264 113,656 $6,251,080 $1,250,216
Alvin 28,179 28,179 $1,549,845 $309,969
Angleton 20,571 20,571 $1,131,405 $226,281
Bailey's Prairie 798 798 $43,890 $8,778
Bonney 354 354 $19,470 $3,894
Brazoria 3,467 3,467 $190,685 $38,137
Brookside Village 1,662 1,662 $91,410 $18,282
Clute 12,156 12,156 $668,580 $133,716
Danbury 1,878 1,878 $103,290 $20,658
Freeport 12,556 12,556 $690,580 $138,116
Hillcrest 779 779 $42,845 $8,569
Holiday Lakes 1,247 1,247 $68,585 $13,717
Iowa Colony 2,229 2,229 $122,595 $24,519
Jones Creek 2,195 2,195 $120,725 $24,145
Lake Jackson 27,699 27,699 $1,523,445 $304,689
Liverpool 573 573 $31,515 $6,303
Manvel 13,532 13,532 $744,260 $148,852
Oyster Creek 1,199 1,199 $65,945 $13,189
Pearland 115,891 115,891 $6,374,005 $1,274,801
Quintana 119 119 $6,545 $1,309
Richwood 4,247 4,247 $233,585 $46,717
Sandy Point 245 245 $13,475 $2,695
Surfside Beach 581 581 $31,955 $6,391



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Sweeny 4,182 4,182 $230,010 $46,002
West Columbia 4,269 4,269 $234,795 $46,959

260,608

Brazos County 229,211 26,134 $1,437,370 $287,474
Bryan 85,224 85,224 $4,687,320 $937,464
College Station 116,998 116,998 $6,434,890 $1,286,978
Kurten 371 371 $20,405 $4,081
Millican 240 240 $13,200 $2,640
Wixon Valley 244 244 $13,420 $2,684

203,077

Brewster County 9,203 3,238 $178,090 $35,618
Alpine 5,965 5,965 $328,075 $65,615

5,965

Briscoe County 1,546 476 $26,180 $5,236
Quitaque 379 379 $20,845 $4,169
Silverton 691 691 $38,005 $7,601

1,070

Brooks County 7,093 2,096 $115,280 $23,056
Falfurrias 4,997 4,997 $274,835 $54,967

4,997

Brown County 37,864 12,868 $707,740 $141,548
Bangs 1,588 1,588 $87,340 $17,468
Blanket 392 392 $21,560 $4,312
Brownwood 19,898 19,898 $1,094,390 $218,878
Early 3,118 3,118 $171,490 $34,298

24,996

Burleson County 18,443 11,853 $651,915 $130,383
Caldwell 4,538 4,538 $249,590 $49,918
Snook 541 541 $29,755 $5,951
Somerville 1,511 1,511 $83,105 $16,621

6,590

Burnet County 48,155 22,983 $1,264,065 $252,813
Bertram 1,617 1,617 $88,935 $17,787
Burnet 6,881 6,881 $378,455 $75,691
Cottonwood Shores 1,345 1,345 $73,975 $14,795
Granite Shoals 5,117 5,117 $281,435 $56,287
Highland Haven 433 433 $23,815 $4,763
Horeshoe Bay 827 827 $45,485 $9,097
Marble Falls 7,125 7,125 $391,875 $78,375
Meadowlakes 1,827 1,827 $100,485 $20,097



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
25,172

Caldwell County 43,664 21,317 $1,172,435 $234,487
Lockhart 13,889 13,889 $763,895 $152,779
Luling 6,016 6,016 $330,880 $66,176
Martindale 1,265 1,265 $69,575 $13,915
Mustang Ridge 478 478 $26,290 $5,258
Niederwald 118 118 $6,490 $1,298
Uhland 581 581 $31,955 $6,391

22,347

Calhoun County 21,290 6,631 $364,705 $72,941
Point Comfort 702 702 $38,610 $7,722
Port Lavaca 12,433 12,433 $683,815 $136,763
Seadrift 1,524 1,524 $83,820 $16,764

14,659

Callahan County 13,943 7,305 $401,775 $80,355
Baird 1,534 1,534 $84,370 $16,874
Clyde 3,992 3,992 $219,560 $43,912
Cross Plains 1,015 1,015 $55,825 $11,165
Putnam 97 97 $5,335 $1,067

6,638

Cameron County 423,163 100,076 $5,504,180 $1,100,836
Bayview 408 408 $22,440 $4,488
Brownsville 185,625 185,625 $10,209,375 $2,041,875
Combes 3,107 3,107 $170,885 $34,177
Harlingen 68,328 68,328 $3,758,040 $751,608
Indian Lake 860 860 $47,300 $9,460
La Feria 7,814 7,814 $429,770 $85,954
Los Fresnos (Cameron) 8,030 8,030 $441,650 $88,330
Los Indios 1,060 1,060 $58,300 $11,660
Palm Valley 1,259 1,259 $69,245 $13,849
Port Isabel 5,130 5,130 $282,150 $56,430
Primera 5,146 5,146 $283,030 $56,606
Rancho Viejo (Cameron) 2,573 2,573 $141,515 $28,303
Rangerville 355 355 $19,525 $3,905
Rio Hondo 2,720 2,720 $149,600 $29,920
San Benito 24,640 24,640 $1,355,200 $271,040
Santa Rosa (Cameron) 2,758 2,758 $151,690 $30,338
Solis CDP 441 441 $24,255 $4,851
South Padre Island 2,833 2,833 $155,815 $31,163

323,087

Camp County 13,094 8,370 $460,350 $92,070
Pittsburg 4,724 4,724 $259,820 $51,964

4,724

Carson County 5,926 1,463 $80,465 $16,093



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Groom 563 563 $30,965 $6,193
Panhandle 2,430 2,430 $133,650 $26,730
Skellytown 456 456 $25,080 $5,016
White Deer 1,014 1,014 $55,770 $11,154

4,463

Cass County 30,026 17,837 $981,035 $196,207
Atlanta 5,683 5,683 $312,565 $62,513
Avinger 444 444 $24,420 $4,884
Bloomburg 418 418 $22,990 $4,598
Domino 108 108 $5,940 $1,188
Douglassville 223 223 $12,265 $2,453
Hughes Springs 1,730 1,730 $95,150 $19,030
Linden 1,967 1,967 $108,185 $21,637
Marietta 132 132 $7,260 $1,452
Queen City 1,484 1,484 $81,620 $16,324

12,189

Castro County 7,530 1,988 $109,340 $21,868
Dimmitt 4,174 4,174 $229,570 $45,914
Hart 1,064 1,064 $58,520 $11,704
Nazareth 304 304 $16,720 $3,344

5,542

Chambers County 43,837 26,702 $1,468,610 $293,722
Anahuac 2,508 2,508 $137,940 $27,588
Baytown 4,145 4,145 $227,975 $45,595
Beach City 2,736 2,736 $150,480 $30,096
Cove 550 550 $30,250 $6,050
Mont Belvieu 5,933 5,933 $326,315 $65,263
Old River-Winfree 1,263 1,263 $69,465 $13,893

17,135

Cherokee County 52,646 27,488 $1,511,840 $302,368
Alto 1,282 1,282 $70,510 $14,102
Bullard 66 66 $3,630 $726
Cuney 138 138 $7,590 $1,518
Gallatin 440 440 $24,200 $4,840
Jacksonville 15,138 15,138 $832,590 $166,518
New Summerfield 1,214 1,214 $66,770 $13,354
Reklaw 225 225 $12,375 $2,475
Rusk 5,745 5,745 $315,975 $63,195
Troup 64 64 $3,520 $704
Wells 846 846 $46,530 $9,306

25,158

Childress County 7,306 1,111 $61,105 $12,221
Childress 6,195 6,195 $340,725 $68,145



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
6,195

Clay County 10,471 5,252 $288,860 $57,772
Bellevue 350 350 $19,250 $3,850
Byers 477 477 $26,235 $5,247
Dean 474 474 $26,070 $5,214
Henrietta 3,071 3,071 $168,905 $33,781
Jolly 160 160 $8,800 $1,760
Petrolia 670 670 $36,850 $7,370
Windthorst 17 17 $935 $187

5,219

Cochran County 2,853 633 $34,815 $6,963
Morton 1,781 1,781 $97,955 $19,591
Whiteface 439 439 $24,145 $4,829

2,220

Coke County 3,387 1,300 $71,500 $14,300
Bronte 999 999 $54,945 $10,989
Robert Lee 1,073 1,073 $59,015 $11,803
Blackwell 15 15 $825 $165

2,087

Coleman County 8,175 2,555 $140,525 $28,105
Coleman 4,432 4,432 $243,760 $48,752
Novice 137 137 $7,535 $1,507
Santa Anna (Coleman) 1,051 1,051 $57,805 $11,561

5,620

Collingsworth County 2,920 772 $42,460 $8,492
Dodson 104 104 $5,720 $1,144
Wellington 2,044 2,044 $112,420 $22,484

2,148

Colorado County 21,493 11,839 $651,145 $130,229
Columbus 3,715 3,715 $204,325 $40,865
Eagle Lake 3,699 3,699 $203,445 $40,689
Weimar 2,240 2,240 $123,200 $24,640

9,654

Comal County 156,209 74,513 $4,098,215 $819,643
Bulverde 5,783 5,783 $318,065 $63,613
Fair Oaks Ranch 424 424 $23,320 $4,664
Garden Ridge 4,121 4,121 $226,655 $45,331
New Braunfels 69,915 69,915 $3,845,325 $769,065
Schertz 1,171 1,171 $64,405 $12,881
Selma 27 27 $1,485 $297



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Spring Branch 255 255 $14,025 $2,805

81,696

Comanche County 13,635 6,551 $360,305 $72,061
Comanche 4,351 4,351 $239,305 $47,861
De Leon 2,237 2,237 $123,035 $24,607
Gustine 496 496 $27,280 $5,456

7,084

Concho County 2,726 1,143 $62,865 $12,573
Eden 1,460 1,460 $80,300 $16,060
Paint Rock 123 123 $6,765 $1,353

1,583

Cooke County 41,257 20,433 $1,123,815 $224,763
Callisburg 382 382 $21,010 $4,202
Gainesville 16,639 16,639 $915,145 $183,029
Lindsay (Cooke) 1,127 1,127 $61,985 $12,397
Muenster 1,634 1,634 $89,870 $17,974
Oak Ridge (Cooke) 200 200 $11,000 $2,200
Valley View 842 842 $46,310 $9,262

20,824

Coryell County 75,951 26,781 $1,472,955 $294,591
Copperas Cove 31,989 31,989 $1,759,395 $351,879
Gatesville 16,078 16,078 $884,290 $176,858
Oglesby 469 469 $25,795 $5,159
South Mountain 362 362 $19,910 $3,982
Evant 272 272 $14,960 $2,992

49,170

Cottle County 1,398 331 $18,205 $3,641
Paducah 1,067 1,067 $58,685 $11,737

1,067

Crane County 4,797 1,211 $66,605 $13,321
Crane 3,586 3,586 $197,230 $39,446

3,586

Corckett County 3,464 3,464 $190,520 $38,104
3,464

Crosby County 5,737 1,149 $63,195 $12,639
Crosbyton 1,594 1,594 $87,670 $17,534
Lorenzo 1,160 1,160 $63,800 $12,760
Ralls 1,834 1,834 $100,870 $20,174

4,588



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation

Culberson County 2,171 319 $17,545 $3,509
Van Horn 1,852 1,852 $101,860 $20,372

1,852

Dallam County 7,287 1,134 $62,370 $12,474
Dalhart 5,622 5,622 $309,210 $61,842
Texline 531 531 $29,205 $5,841

6,153

Dawson County 12,728 3,380 $185,900 $37,180
Lamesa 8,816 8,816 $484,880 $96,976
Los Ybanez 17 17 $935 $187
O' Donnell 115 115 $6,325 $1,265
Welch CDP 246 246 $13,530 $2,706
Ackerly 154 154 $8,470 $1,694

9,348

Deaf Smith 18,546 3,033 $166,815 $33,363
Hereford 15,513 15,513 $853,215 $170,643

15,513

Delta County 5,331 3,174 $174,570 $34,914
Cooper 1,967 1,967 $108,185 $21,637
Pecan Gap 190 190 $10,450 $2,090

2,157

DeWitt County 20,160 8,060 $443,300 $88,660
Cuero 7,545 7,545 $414,975 $82,995
Nordheim 316 316 $17,380 $3,476
Yoakum 2,101 2,101 $115,555 $23,111
Yorktown 2,138 2,138 $117,590 $23,518

12,100

Dickens County 2,211 717 $39,435 $7,887
Dickens 261 261 $14,355 $2,871
Spur 1,233 1,233 $67,815 $13,563

1,494

Dimmit County 10,124 2,554 $140,470 $28,094
Asherton 1,039 1,039 $57,145 $11,429
Big Wells 679 679 $37,345 $7,469
Carrizo Springs 5,852 5,852 $321,860 $64,372

7,570



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation

Donley County 3,278 766 $42,130 $8,426
Clarendon 1,844 1,844 $101,420 $20,284
Hedley 295 295 $16,225 $3,245
Howardwick 373 373 $20,515 $4,103

2,512

Duval County 11,157 3,945 $216,975 $43,395
Benavides 1,241 1,241 $68,255 $13,651
Freer 2,627 2,627 $144,485 $28,897
San Diego 3,344 3,344 $183,920 $36,784

7,212

Eastland County 18,360 5,896 $324,280 $64,856
Carbon 264 264 $14,520 $2,904
Cisco 3,860 3,860 $212,300 $42,460
Eastland 4,052 4,052 $222,860 $44,572
Gorman 1,038 1,038 $57,090 $11,418
Ranger 2,414 2,414 $132,770 $26,554
Rising Star 836 836 $45,980 $9,196

12,464

Ector County 166,223 47,511 $2,613,105 $522,621
Goldsmith 269 269 $14,795 $2,959
Odessa 118,443 118,443 $6,514,365 $1,302,873

118,712

Edwards County 1,932 802 $44,110 $8,822
Rocksprings 1,130 1,130 $62,150 $12,430

1,130

Ellis County 184,826 62,926 $3,460,930 $692,186
Alma 400 400 $22,000 $4,400
Bardwell 723 723 $39,765 $7,953
Cedar Hill 559 559 $30,745 $6,149
Ennis 21,042 21,042 $1,157,310 $231,462
Ferris 2,820 2,820 $155,100 $31,020
Garrett 935 935 $51,425 $10,285
Glenn Heights 3,049 3,049 $167,695 $33,539
Grand Prairie 28 28 $1,540 $308
Italy 1,957 1,957 $107,635 $21,527
Mansfield 119 119 $6,545 $1,309
Maypearl 1,146 1,146 $63,030 $12,606
Midlothian 28,301 28,301 $1,556,555 $311,311
Milford 764 764 $42,020 $8,404
Oak Leaf 1,479 1,479 $81,345 $16,269
Palmer 2,234 2,234 $122,870 $24,574
Pecan Hill 689 689 $37,895 $7,579



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Red Oak 13,153 13,153 $723,415 $144,683
Waxahachie 38,643 38,643 $2,125,365 $425,073
Ovilla 3,773 3,773 $207,515 $41,503
Venus 86 86 $4,730 $946

121,900

Erath County 42,698 17,021 $936,155 $187,231
Dublin 3,612 3,612 $198,660 $39,732
Stephenville 22,065 22,065 $1,213,575 $242,715

25,677

Falls County 17,297 9,078 $499,290 $99,858
Bruceville-Eddy 4 4 $220 $44
Lott 782 782 $43,010 $8,602
Marlin 5,665 5,665 $311,575 $62,315
Rosebud 1,344 1,344 $73,920 $14,784
Golinda 424 424 $23,320 $4,664

8,219

Fannin County 35,514 17,079 $939,345 $187,869
Bailey 304 304 $16,720 $3,344
Bonham 10,672 10,672 $586,960 $117,392
Dodd City 384 384 $21,120 $4,224
Ector 726 726 $39,930 $7,986
Honey Grove 1,664 1,664 $91,520 $18,304
Ladonia 626 626 $34,430 $6,886
Leonard 2,080 2,080 $114,400 $22,880
Pecan Gap 12 12 $660 $132
Ravenna 213 213 $11,715 $2,343
Savoy 846 846 $46,530 $9,306
Trenton 692 692 $38,060 $7,612
Whitewright 8 8 $440 $88
Windom 208 208 $11,440 $2,288

18,435

Fayette County 25,346 15,532 $854,260 $170,852
Carmine 258 258 $14,190 $2,838
Fayetteville 271 271 $14,905 $2,981
Flatonia 1,511 1,511 $83,105 $16,621
La Grange 4,751 4,751 $261,305 $52,261
Round Top 88 88 $4,840 $968
Schulenburg 2,935 2,935 $161,425 $32,285

9,814

Fisher 3,830 1,816 $99,880 $19,976
Roby 606 606 $33,330 $6,666
Rotan 1,408 1,408 $77,440 $15,488

2,014



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation

Floyd County 5,712 1,397 $76,835 $15,367
Floydada 2,670 2,670 $146,850 $29,370
Lockney 1,645 1,645 $90,475 $18,095

4,315

Foard 1,155 297 $16,335 $3,267
Crowell 858 858 $47,190 $9,438

858

Franklin County 10,725 7,287 $400,785 $80,157
Mount Vernon 2,739 2,739 $150,645 $30,129
Winnsboro 699 699 $38,445 $7,689

3,438

Freestone County 19,717 11,647 $640,585 $128,117
Fairfield 2,980 2,980 $163,900 $32,780
Kirvin 137 137 $7,535 $1,507
Oakwood 37 37 $2,035 $407
Teague 3,588 3,588 $197,340 $39,468
Wortham 1,076 1,076 $59,180 $11,836
Streetman 252 252 $13,860 $2,772

8,070

Frio County 20,306 5,245 $288,475 $57,695
Dilley 4,405 4,405 $242,275 $48,455
Pearsall 10,656 10,656 $586,080 $117,216

15,061

Gaines County 21,492 10,965 $603,075 $120,615
Seagraves 2,886 2,886 $158,730 $31,746
Seminole 7,641 7,641 $420,255 $84,051

10,527

Galveston County 342,139 41,865 $2,302,575 $460,515
Bayou Vista 1,648 1,648 $90,640 $18,128
Clear Lake Shores 1,164 1,164 $64,020 $12,804
Dickinson 21,532 21,532 $1,184,260 $236,852
Friendswood 28,606 28,606 $1,573,330 $314,666
Galveston 49,638 49,638 $2,730,090 $546,018
Hitchcock 7,855 7,855 $432,025 $86,405
Jamaica Beach 1,080 1,080 $59,400 $11,880
Kemah 2,047 2,047 $112,585 $22,517
La Marque 16,817 16,817 $924,935 $184,987
League City 104,260 104,260 $5,734,300 $1,146,860
Santa Fe 13,624 13,624 $749,320 $149,864
Texas City 50,946 50,946 $2,802,030 $560,406



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Tiki Island 1,057 1,057 $58,135 $11,627

300,274

Garza County 6,229 921 $50,655 $10,131
Post 5,308 5,308 $291,940 $58,388

5,308

Gillespie County 26,988 15,459 $850,245 $170,049
Fredericksburg 11,529 11,529 $634,095 $126,819

11,529

Goliad County 7,658 5,600 $308,000 $61,600
Goliad 2,058 2,058 $113,190 $22,638

2,058

Gonzales County 20,837 9,099 $500,445 $100,089
Gonzales 7,571 7,571 $416,405 $83,281
Nixon 2,463 2,463 $135,465 $27,093
Smiley 556 556 $30,580 $6,116
Waelder 1,148 1,148 $63,140 $12,628

11,738

Gray County 21,886 3,593 $197,615 $39,523
Lefors 472 472 $25,960 $5,192
McLean 747 747 $41,085 $8,217
Pampa 17,074 17,074 $939,070 $187,814

18,293

Grayson County 136,212 40,209 $2,211,495 $442,299
Bells 1,552 1,552 $85,360 $17,072
Collinsville 1,998 1,998 $109,890 $21,978
Denison 25,631 25,631 $1,409,705 $281,941
Dorchester 168 168 $9,240 $1,848
Gunter 1,663 1,663 $91,465 $18,293
Howe 3,610 3,610 $198,550 $39,710
Knollwood 554 554 $30,470 $6,094
Pottsboro 2,522 2,522 $138,710 $27,742
Sadler 345 345 $18,975 $3,795
Sherman 44,192 44,192 $2,430,560 $486,112
Southmayd 1,107 1,107 $60,885 $12,177
Tioga 1,019 1,019 $56,045 $11,209
Tom Bean 1,150 1,150 $63,250 $12,650
Van Alstyne 4,658 4,658 $256,190 $51,238
Whitesboro 4,139 4,139 $227,645 $45,529
Whitewright 1,695 1,695 $93,225 $18,645

96,003

Gregg County 123,945 19,836 $1,090,980 $218,196



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Clarksville City 924 924 $50,820 $10,164
Easton 458 458 $25,190 $5,038
Gladewater 3,886 3,886 $213,730 $42,746
Kilgore 11,332 11,332 $623,260 $124,652
Lakeport 1,056 1,056 $58,080 $11,616
Longview 79,690 79,690 $4,382,950 $876,590
Warren City 294 294 $16,170 $3,234
White Oak 6,469 6,469 $355,795 $71,159

104,109

Grimes County 28,880 18,716 $1,029,380 $205,876
Anderson 240 240 $13,200 $2,640
Bedias 485 485 $26,675 $5,335
Iola 444 444 $24,420 $4,884
Navasota 7,937 7,937 $436,535 $87,307
Plantersville 938 938 $51,590 $10,318
Todd Mission 120 120 $6,600 $1,320

10,164

Guadalupe County 166,847 46,334 $2,548,370 $509,674
Cibolo 31,066 31,066 $1,708,630 $341,726
Kingsbury 130 130 $7,150 $1,430
Marion 1,241 1,241 $68,255 $13,651
New Berlin 608 608 $33,440 $6,688
New Braunfels 14,697 14,697 $808,335 $161,667
Santa Clara 733 733 $40,315 $8,063
Schertz 37,860 37,860 $2,082,300 $416,460
Seguin 31,239 31,239 $1,718,145 $343,629
Selma 2,668 2,668 $146,740 $29,348
Staples 271 271 $14,905 $2,981

120,513

Hale County 33,406 4,583 $252,065 $50,413
Edmondson 103 103 $5,665 $1,133
Hale Center 2,097 2,097 $115,335 $23,067
Petersburg 1,149 1,149 $63,195 $12,639
Plainview 20,740 20,740 $1,140,700 $228,140
Abernathy 1,970 1,970 $108,350 $21,670
Estelline 138 138 $7,590 $1,518
Lakeview 95 95 $5,225 $1,045
Memphis 2,148 2,148 $118,140 $23,628
Turkey 383 383 $21,065 $4,213

28,823

Hall County 2,964 293 $16,115 $3,223
Estelline 131 131 $7,205 $1,441
Lakeview 98 98 $5,390 $1,078
Memphis 2,058 2,058 $113,190 $22,638
Turkey 384 384 $21,120 $4,224



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
2,671

Hamilton County 8,461 3,704 $203,720 $40,744
Evant 136 136 $7,480 $1,496
Hamilton 3,159 3,159 $173,745 $34,749
Hico 1,462 1,462 $80,410 $16,082

4,757

Hansford County 5,399 971 $53,405 $10,681
Gruver 1,137 1,137 $62,535 $12,507
Spearman 3,291 3,291 $181,005 $36,201

4,428

Hardeman County 3,933 893 $49,115 $9,823
Chillicothe 652 652 $35,860 $7,172
Quanah 2,388 2,388 $131,340 $26,268

3,040

Hardin County 57,602 33,468 $1,840,740 $368,148
Kountze 2,130 2,130 $117,150 $23,430
Lumberton 12,834 12,834 $705,870 $141,174
Rose Hill Acres 415 415 $22,825 $4,565
Silsbee 6,815 6,815 $374,825 $74,965
Sour Lake 1,940 1,940 $106,700 $21,340

24,134

Harrison County 66,553 32,816 $1,804,880 $360,976
Hallsville 4,335 4,335 $238,425 $47,685
Longview 1,957 1,957 $107,635 $21,527
Marshall 24,444 24,444 $1,344,420 $268,884
Nesbitt 269 269 $14,795 $2,959
Scottsville 370 370 $20,350 $4,070
Uncertain 94 94 $5,170 $1,034
Waskom 2,268 2,268 $124,740 $24,948

33,737

Hartley County 5,576 2,565 $141,075 $28,215
Channing 337 337 $18,535 $3,707
Dalhart 2,674 2,674 $147,070 $29,414

3,011

Haskell County 5,658 1,145 $62,975 $12,595
Haskell 3,266 3,266 $179,630 $35,926
O'Brien 104 104 $5,720 $1,144
Rochester 316 316 $17,380 $3,476
Rule 623 623 $34,265 $6,853



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Stamford 34 34 $1,870 $374
Weinert 170 170 $9,350 $1,870

4,513

Hays County 230,191 87,832 $4,830,760 $966,152
Bear Creek 455 455 $25,025 $5,005
Buda 18,323 18,323 $1,007,765 $201,553
Dripping Springs 3,967 3,967 $218,185 $43,637
Hays 263 263 $14,465 $2,893
Kyle 46,174 46,174 $2,539,570 $507,914
Mountain City 797 797 $43,835 $8,767
Niederwald 488 488 $26,840 $5,368
San Marcos 66,466 66,466 $3,655,630 $731,126
Uhland 612 612 $33,660 $6,732
Wimberley 3,127 3,127 $171,985 $34,397
Woodcreek 1,687 1,687 $92,785 $18,557

142,359

Hemphill County 3,819 1,106 $60,830 $12,166
Canadian 2,713 2,713 $149,215 $29,843

2,713

Henderson County 82,737 43,258 $2,379,190 $475,838
Athens 13,571 13,571 $746,405 $149,281
Berryville 1,058 1,058 $58,190 $11,638
Brownsboro 1,259 1,259 $69,245 $13,849
Caney City 226 226 $12,430 $2,486
Chandler 3,118 3,118 $171,490 $34,298
Coffee City 1,465 1,465 $80,575 $16,115
Enchanted Oaks 339 339 $18,645 $3,729
Eustace 1,011 1,011 $55,605 $11,121
Gun Barrel City 6,157 6,157 $338,635 $67,727
Log Cabin 784 784 $43,120 $8,624
Mabank 884 884 $48,620 $9,724
Malakoff 2,442 2,442 $134,310 $26,862
Moore Station 205 205 $11,275 $2,255
Murchison 611 611 $33,605 $6,721
Payne Springs 798 798 $43,890 $8,778
Poynor 319 319 $17,545 $3,509
Seven Points 1,445 1,445 $79,475 $15,895
Star Harbor 492 492 $27,060 $5,412
Tool 2,404 2,404 $132,220 $26,444
Trinidad 891 891 $49,005 $9,801

39,479

Hill County 36,649 20,237 $1,113,035 $222,607
Abbott 376 376 $20,680 $4,136
Aquilla 114 114 $6,270 $1,254
Blum 472 472 $25,960 $5,192



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Bynum 205 205 $11,275 $2,255
Carl's Corner 178 178 $9,790 $1,958
Covington 282 282 $15,510 $3,102
Hillsboro 8,544 8,544 $469,920 $93,984
Hubbard 1,394 1,394 $76,670 $15,334
Itasca 1,727 1,727 $94,985 $18,997
Malone 276 276 $15,180 $3,036
Mertens 128 128 $7,040 $1,408
Mount Calm 332 332 $18,260 $3,652
Penelope 207 207 $11,385 $2,277
Whitney 2,177 2,177 $119,735 $23,947

16,412

Hockley County 23,021 5,699 $313,445 $62,689
Anton 1,105 1,105 $60,775 $12,155
Levelland 13,732 13,732 $755,260 $151,052
Opdyke West 179 179 $9,845 $1,969
Ropesville 422 422 $23,210 $4,642
Smyer 474 474 $26,070 $5,214
Sundown 1,410 1,410 $77,550 $15,510

17,322

Hood County 61,643 45,971 $2,528,405 $505,681
Cresson 312 312 $17,160 $3,432
DeCordova 3,043 3,043 $167,365 $33,473
Granbury 10,524 10,524 $578,820 $115,764
Lipan 483 483 $26,565 $5,313
Stockton Bend City 325 325 $17,875 $3,575
Tolar 985 985 $54,175 $10,835

15,672

Hopkins County 37,084 19,013
Como 746 746 $41,030 $8,206
Cumby 813 813 $44,715 $8,943
Sulphur Springs 16,199 16,199 $890,945 $178,189
Tira 313 313 $17,215 $3,443

18,071

Houston County 22,968 13,542 $744,810 $148,962
Crockett 6,707 6,707 $368,885 $73,777
Grapeland 1,419 1,419 $78,045 $15,609
Kennard 330 330 $18,150 $3,630
Latexo 332 332 $18,260 $3,652
Lovelady 638 638 $35,090 $7,018

9,426

Howard County 36,664 7,402 $407,110 $81,422
Big Spring 28,156 28,156 $1,548,580 $309,716



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Coahoma 887 887 $48,785 $9,757
Forsan 219 219 $12,045 $2,409

29,262

Hudspeth County 4,886 4,508 $247,940 $49,588
Dell City 378 378 $20,790 $4,158

378

Hunt County 98,594 49,293 $2,711,115 $542,223
Caddo Mills 1,706 1,706 $93,830 $18,766
Campbell 666 666 $36,630 $7,326
Celeste 925 925 $50,875 $10,175
Commerce 9,786 9,786 $538,230 $107,646
Greenville 28,851 28,851 $1,586,805 $317,361
Hawk Cove 554 554 $30,470 $6,094
Josephine 109 109 $5,995 $1,199
Lone Oak 676 676 $37,180 $7,436
Neylandville 106 106 $5,830 $1,166
Quinlan 1,565 1,565 $86,075 $17,215
Union Valley 399 399 $21,945 $4,389
Royse City 654 654 $35,970 $7,194
West Tawakoni 1,775 1,775 $97,625 $19,525
Wolfe City 1,529 1,529 $84,095 $16,819

49,301

Hutchinson County 20,938 4,621 $254,155 $50,831
Borger 12,437 12,437 $684,035 $136,807
Fritch 1,971 1,971 $108,405 $21,681
Sanford 153 153 $8,415 $1,683
Stinnett 1,756 1,756 $96,580 $19,316

16,317

Irion County 1,536 701 $38,555 $7,711
Mertzon 835 835 $45,925 $9,185

835

Jack County 8,935 3,841 $211,255 $42,251
Bryson 579 579 $31,845 $6,369
Jacksboro 4,515 4,515 $248,325 $49,665

5,094

Jackson County 14,760 6,351 $349,305 $69,861
Edna 5,908 5,908 $324,940 $64,988
Ganado 2,282 2,282 $125,510 $25,102
La Ward 219 219 $12,045 $2,409

8,409



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Jasper 35,529 25,403 $1,397,165 $279,433
Browndell 204 204 $11,220 $2,244
Jasper 7,665 7,665 $421,575 $84,315
Kirbyville 2,257 2,257 $124,135 $24,827

10,126

Jeff Davis County 2,274 2,149 $118,195 $23,639
Valentine 125 125 $6,875 $1,375

125

Jefferson County 251,565 28,148 $1,548,140 $309,628
Beaumont 119,780 119,780 $6,587,900 $1,317,580
Bevil Oaks 1,233 1,233 $67,815 $13,563
China 1,215 1,215 $66,825 $13,365
Groves 15,907 15,907 $874,885 $174,977
Nederland 17,302 17,302 $951,610 $190,322
Nome 596 596 $32,780 $6,556
Port Arthur 54,440 54,440 $2,994,200 $598,840
Port Neches 12,733 12,733 $700,315 $140,063
Taylor Landing 211 211 $11,605 $2,321

223,417

Jim Wells County 40,482 16,433 $903,815 $180,763
Alice 18,862 18,862 $1,037,410 $207,482
Orange Grove 1,309 1,309 $71,995 $14,399
Premont 2,554 2,554 $140,470 $28,094
San Diego 907 907 $49,885 $9,977
Westdale CDP 417 417 $22,935 $4,587

24,049

Johnson County 175,817 75,504 $4,152,720 $830,544
Alvarado 4,574 4,574 $251,570 $50,314
Briaroaks 505 505 $27,775 $5,555
Burleson 37,357 37,357 $2,054,635 $410,927
Cleburne 32,335 32,335 $1,778,425 $355,685
Coyote Flats City 331 331 $18,205 $3,641
Cresson 143 143 $7,865 $1,573
Cross Timber 324 324 $17,820 $3,564
Crowley 35 35 $1,925 $385
Godley 1,290 1,290 $70,950 $14,190
Grandview 1,803 1,803 $99,165 $19,833
Joshua 7,788 7,788 $428,340 $85,668
Keene 6,815 6,815 $374,825 $74,965
Mansfield 2,173 2,173 $119,515 $23,903
Rio Vista 1,073 1,073 $59,015 $11,803
Venus 3,767 3,767 $207,185 $41,437

100,313



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Jones County 20,083 6,239 $343,145 $68,629
Abilene 5,637 5,637 $310,035 $62,007
Anson 2,330 2,330 $128,150 $25,630
Hamlin 2,031 2,031 $111,705 $22,341
Hawley 630 630 $34,650 $6,930
Lueders 327 327 $17,985 $3,597
Stamford 2,889 2,889 $158,895 $31,779

13,844

Karnes County 15,601 7,042 $387,310 $77,462
Falls City 674 674 $37,070 $7,414
Karnes City 3,202 3,202 $176,110 $35,222
Kenedy 3,525 3,525 $193,875 $38,775
Runge 1,158 1,158 $63,690 $12,738

8,559

Kaufman County 136,154 69,411 $3,817,605 $763,521
Combine 1,423 1,423 $78,265 $15,653
Cottonwood 215 215 $11,825 $2,365
Crandall 3,477 3,477 $191,235 $38,247
Forney 25,371 25,371 $1,395,405 $279,081
Grays Prairie 378 378 $20,790 $4,158
Kaufman 7,565 7,565 $416,075 $83,215
Kemp 1,268 1,268 $69,740 $13,948
Mabank 2,821 2,821 $155,155 $31,031
Mesquite 132 132 $7,260 $1,452
Oak Grove 702 702 $38,610 $7,722
Oak Ridge (Kaufman) 661 661 $36,355 $7,271
Post Oak Bend City 688 688 $37,840 $7,568
Rosser 382 382 $21,010 $4,202
Scurry 772 772 $42,460 $8,492
Seagoville 25 25 $1,375 $275
Seven Points 79 79 $4,345 $869
Talty 2,664 2,664 $146,520 $29,304
Terrell 18,120 18,120 $996,600 $199,320

66,743

Kendall County 47,431 28,260 $1,554,300 $310,860
Boerne 16,892 16,892 $929,060 $185,812
Fair Oaks Ranch 2,279 2,279 $125,345 $25,069

19,171

Kenedy County 404 404 $22,220 $4,444
404

Kent County 762 270 $14,850 $2,970



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Jayton 492 492 $27,060 $5,412

492

Kerr County 52,600 26,527 $1,458,985 $291,797
Ingram 1,848 1,848 $101,640 $20,328
Kerrville 24,225 24,225 $1,332,375 $266,475

26,073

Kimble County 4,337 1,760 $96,800 $19,360
Junction 2,577 2,577 $141,735 $28,347

2,577

King County 272 272 $14,960 $2,992
272

Kinney County 3,667 1,779 $97,845 $19,569
Brackettville 1,785 1,785 $98,175 $19,635
Spofford 103 103 $5,665 $1,133

1,888

Kleberg County 30,680 5,286 $290,730 $58,146
Kingsville 25,394 25,394 $1,396,670 $279,334

25,394

Knox County 3,664 1,010 $55,550 $11,110
Benjamin 238 238 $13,090 $2,618
Goree 184 184 $10,120 $2,024
Knox City 1,063 1,063 $58,465 $11,693
Munday 1,169 1,169 $64,295 $12,859

2,654

La Salle County 7,520 2,908 $159,940 $31,988
Cotulla 4,005 4,005 $220,275 $44,055
Encinal 607 607 $33,385 $6,677

4,612

Lamar County 49,859 18,227 $1,002,485 $200,497
Blossom 1,568 1,568 $86,240 $17,248
Deport 562 562 $30,910 $6,182
Paris 25,330 25,330 $1,393,150 $278,630
Reno (Lamar) 3,362 3,362 $184,910 $36,982
Roxton 656 656 $36,080 $7,216
Sun Valley 82 82 $4,510 $902
Toco 72 72 $3,960 $792



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
31,632

Lamb County 12,893 2,328 $128,040 $25,608
Amherst 643 643 $35,365 $7,073
Earth 972 972 $53,460 $10,692
Littlefield 5,915 5,915 $325,325 $65,065
Olton 2,045 2,045 $112,475 $22,495
Springlake 96 96 $5,280 $1,056
Sudan 894 894 $49,170 $9,834

10,565

Lampasas County 21,428 10,778 $592,790 $118,558
Copperas Cove 669 669 $36,795 $7,359
Kempner 1,175 1,175 $64,625 $12,925
Lampasas 7,947 7,947 $437,085 $87,417
Lometa 859 859 $47,245 $9,449

10,650

Lavaca County 20,154 10,497 $577,335 $115,467
Hallettsville 2,693 2,693 $148,115 $29,623
Moulton 903 903 $49,665 $9,933
Shiner 2,218 2,218 $121,990 $24,398
Yoakum 3,843 3,843 $211,365 $42,273

9,657

Lee County 17,239 10,838 $596,090 $119,218
Giddings 5,195 5,195 $285,725 $57,145
Lexington 1,206 1,206 $66,330 $13,266

6,401

Leon County 17,404 11,734 $645,370 $129,074
Buffalo 1,896 1,896 $104,280 $20,856
Centerville 909 909 $49,995 $9,999
Jewett 1,243 1,243 $68,365 $13,673
Leona 189 189 $10,395 $2,079
Marquez 270 270 $14,850 $2,970
Normangee 683 683 $37,565 $7,513
Oakwood 480 480 $26,400 $5,280

5,670

Liberty County 88,219 55,297 $3,041,335 $608,267
Ames 1,168 1,168 $64,240 $12,848
Cleveland 8,620 8,620 $474,100 $94,820
Daisetta 1,109 1,109 $60,995 $12,199
Dayton 8,907 8,907 $489,885 $97,977
Dayton Lakes 108 108 $5,940 $1,188
Devers 531 531 $29,205 $5,841
Hardin 939 939 $51,645 $10,329



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Kenefick 654 654 $35,970 $7,194
Liberty 9,754 9,754 $536,470 $107,294
North Cleveland 304 304 $16,720 $3,344
Old River-Winfree 127 127 $6,985 $1,397
Plum Grove 701 701 $38,555 $7,711

32,922

Limestone County 23,437 9,074 $499,070 $99,814
Coolidge 997 997 $54,835 $10,967
Groesbeck 4,372 4,372 $240,460 $48,092
Kosse 456 456 $25,080 $5,016
Mexia 7,709 7,709 $423,995 $84,799
Tehuacana 288 288 $15,840 $3,168
Thornton 541 541 $29,755 $5,951

14,363

Lipscomb County 3,233 490 $26,950 $5,390
Booker 1,528 1,528 $84,040 $16,808
Darrouzett 352 352 $19,360 $3,872
Follett 460 460 $25,300 $5,060
Higgins 403 403 $22,165 $4,433

2,743

Live Oak County 12,207 7,660 $421,300 $84,260
George West 2,572 2,572 $141,460 $28,292
Three Rivers 1,975 1,975 $108,625 $21,725

4,547

Llano County 21,795 14,344 $788,920 $157,784
Horseshoe Bay 3,142 3,142 $172,810 $34,562
Llano 3,507 3,507 $192,885 $38,577
Sunrise Beach Village 802 802 $44,110 $8,822

7,451

Loving County 169 169 $9,295 $1,859
169

Lubbock County 310,569 34,474 $1,896,070 $379,214
Abernathy 754 754 $41,470 $8,294
Buffalo Springs 495 495 $27,225 $5,445
Idalou 2,246 2,246 $123,530 $24,706
Lubbock 256,600 256,600 $14,113,000 $2,822,600
New Deal 825 825 $45,375 $9,075
Ransom Canyon 1,103 1,103 $60,665 $12,133
Shallowater 2,501 2,501 $137,555 $27,511
Slaton 5,948 5,948 $327,140 $65,428
Wolfforth 5,623 5,623 $309,265 $61,853



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
276,095

Lynn County 5,951 1,712 $94,160 $18,832
New Home 366 366 $20,130 $4,026
O'Donnell 711 711 $39,105 $7,821
Tahoka 2,678 2,678 $147,290 $29,458
Wilson 484 484 $26,620 $5,324

4,239

Madison County 14,284 9,264 $509,520 $101,904
Madisonville 4,778 4,778 $262,790 $52,558
Midway 242 242 $13,310 $2,662

5,020

Marion County 9,854 7,817 $429,935 $85,987
Jefferson 2,037 2,037 $112,035 $22,407

2,037

Martin County 5,771 2,613 $143,715 $28,743
Ackerly 73 73 $4,015 $803
Stanton 3,085 3,085 $169,675 $33,935

3,158

Mason County 4,274 1,981 $108,955 $21,791
Mason 2,293 2,293 $126,115 $25,223

2,293

Matagorda County 36,643 14,652 $805,860 $161,172
Bay City 17,444 17,444 $959,420 $191,884
Palacios 4,547 4,547 $250,085 $50,017

21,991

Maverick County 58,722 29,942 $1,646,810 $329,362
Eagle Pass 28,780 28,780 $1,582,900 $316,580

28,780

McCulloch County 7,984 2,192 $120,560 $24,112
Brady 5,618 5,618 $308,990 $61,798
Melvin 174 174 $9,570 $1,914

5,792

McLennan County 256,623 41,478 $2,281,290 $456,258
Bellmead 10,771 10,771 $592,405 $118,481
Beverly Hills 1,994 1,994 $109,670 $21,934



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Bruceville-Eddy 1,691 1,691 $93,005 $18,601
Crawford 754 754 $41,470 $8,294
Gholson 1,118 1,118 $61,490 $12,298
Golinda 153 153 $8,415 $1,683
Hewitt 15,169 15,169 $834,295 $166,859
Lacy-Lakeview 7,010 7,010 $385,550 $77,110
Leroy 345 345 $18,975 $3,795
Lorena 1,776 1,776 $97,680 $19,536
Mart 2,041 2,041 $112,255 $22,451
McGregor 5,296 5,296 $291,280 $58,256
Riesel 1,051 1,051 $57,805 $11,561
Robinson 11,904 11,904 $654,720 $130,944
Ross 285 285 $15,675 $3,135
Valley Mills 13 13 $715 $143
Waco 139,324 139,324 $7,662,820 $1,532,564
West 2,871 2,871 $157,905 $31,581
Woodway 9,250 9,250 $508,750 $101,750
Bruceville-Eddy 1,865 1,865 $102,575 $20,515
Hallsburg 464 464 $25,520 $5,104

215,145

Medina County 51,584 30,552 $1,680,360 $336,072
Castroville 3,111 3,111 $171,105 $34,221
Devine 4,895 4,895 $269,225 $53,845
Hondo 9,522 9,522 $523,710 $104,742
LaCoste 1,287 1,287 $70,785 $14,157
Lytle 562 562 $30,910 $6,182
Natalia 1,627 1,627 $89,485 $17,897
San Antonio 28 28 $1,540 $308

21,032

Menard County 2,138 738 $40,590 $8,118
Menard 1,400 1,400 $77,000 $15,400

1,400

Midland County 176,832 30,107 $1,655,885 $331,177
Midland 144,600 144,600 $7,953,000 $1,590,600
Odessa 2,125 2,125 $116,875 $23,375

146,725

Milam County 24,823 11,093 $610,115 $122,023
Buckholts 544 544 $29,920 $5,984
Cameron 5,629 5,629 $309,595 $61,919
Milano 456 456 $25,080 $5,016
Rockdale 5,685 5,685 $312,675 $62,535
Thorndale 1,416 1,416 $77,880 $15,576

13,730

Mills County 4,873 2,790 $153,450 $30,690
Goldthwaite 1,903 1,903 $104,665 $20,933



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Mullin 180 180 $9,900 $1,980

2,083

Mitchell County 8,545 4,013 $220,715 $44,143
Colorado City 3,724 3,724 $204,820 $40,964
Loraine 570 570 $31,350 $6,270
Westbrook 238 238 $13,090 $2,618

4,532

Montague County 19,818 10,557 $580,635 $116,127
Bowie 5,137 5,137 $282,535 $56,507
Nocona 3,036 3,036 $166,980 $33,396
St. Jo 1,088 1,088 $59,840 $11,968

9,261

Moore County 20,940 2,206 $121,330 $24,266
Cactus 3,143 3,143 $172,865 $34,573
Dumas 13,770 13,770 $757,350 $151,470
Fritch 8 8 $440 $88
Sunray 1,813 1,813 $99,715 $19,943

18,734

Morris County 12,388 6,230 $342,650 $68,530
Daingerfield 2,364 2,364 $130,020 $26,004
Hughes Springs 6 6 $330 $66
Lone Star 1,467 1,467 $80,685 $16,137
Naples 1,339 1,339 $73,645 $14,729
Omaha 982 982 $54,010 $10,802

6,158

Motley County 1,200 348 $19,140 $3,828
Matador 615 615 $33,825 $6,765
Roaring Springs 237 237 $13,035 $2,607

852

Nacogdoches County 65,204 29,056 $1,598,080 $319,616
Appleby 495 495 $27,225 $5,445
Chireno 387 387 $21,285 $4,257
Cushing 611 611 $33,605 $6,721
Garrison 908 908 $49,940 $9,988
Nacogdoches 33,676 33,676 $1,852,180 $370,436
Rocky Mound 71 71 $3,905 $781

36,148

Navarro County 50,113 17,186 $945,230 $189,046
Angus 458 458 $25,190 $5,038



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Barry 262 262 $14,410 $2,882
Blooming Grove 853 853 $46,915 $9,383
Corsicana 24,764 24,764 $1,362,020 $272,404
Dawson 813 813 $44,715 $8,943
Emhouse 142 142 $7,810 $1,562
Eureka 325 325 $17,875 $3,575
Frost 651 651 $35,805 $7,161
Goodlow 198 198 $10,890 $2,178
Kerens 1,584 1,584 $87,120 $17,424
Mildred 390 390 $21,450 $4,290
Mustang 23 23 $1,265 $253
Navarro 211 211 $11,605 $2,321
Oak Valley 401 401 $22,055 $4,411
Powell 148 148 $8,140 $1,628
Retreat 410 410 $22,550 $4,510
Rice 1,024 1,024 $56,320 $11,264
Richland 270 270 $14,850 $2,970

32,927

Newton County 13,595 11,243 $618,365 $123,673
Newton 2,352 2,352 $129,360 $25,872

2,352

Nolan County 14,714 2,712 $149,160 $29,832
Blackwell 295 295 $16,225 $3,245
Roscoe 1,273 1,273 $70,015 $14,003
Sweetwater 10,434 10,434 $573,870 $114,774

12,002

Nueces County 362,294 15,103 $830,665 $166,133
Agua Dulce 833 833 $45,815 $9,163
Aransas Pass 14 14 $770 $154
Bishop 3,134 3,134 $172,370 $34,474
Corpus Christi 326,554 326,554 $17,960,470 $3,592,094
Driscoll 749 749 $41,195 $8,239
Petronila 112 112 $6,160 $1,232
Port Aransas 4,159 4,159 $228,745 $45,749
Robstown 11,207 11,207 $616,385 $123,277
San Patricio 429 429 $23,595 $4,719

347,191

Ochiltree County 9,836 1,159 $63,745 $12,749
Perryton 8,677 8,677 $477,235 $95,447

8,677

Oldham Country 2,112 1,050 $57,750 $11,550
Adrian 157 157 $8,635 $1,727
Vega 905 905 $49,775 $9,955

1,062



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation

Orange County 83,396 41,300 $2,271,500 $454,300
Bridge City 7,900 7,900 $434,500 $86,900
Orange 18,847 18,847 $1,036,585 $207,317
Pine Forest 505 505 $27,775 $5,555
Rose City 511 511 $28,105 $5,621
Vidor 10,955 10,955 $602,525 $120,505
West Orange 3,378 3,378 $185,790 $37,158

42,096

Palo Pinto County 29,189 9,865 $542,575 $108,515
Gordon 484 484 $26,620 $5,324
Graford 630 630 $34,650 $6,930
Mineral Wells 17,295 17,295 $951,225 $190,245
Mingus 249 249 $13,695 $2,739
Strawn 666 666 $36,630 $7,326

19,324

Panola County 23,194 14,938 $821,590 $164,318
Beckville 933 933 $51,315 $10,263
Carthage 7,004 7,004 $385,220 $77,044
Gary City 319 319 $17,545 $3,509

8,256

Parker County 142,878 85,693 $4,713,115 $942,623
Aledo 4,105 4,105 $225,775 $45,155
Annetta 3,067 3,067 $168,685 $33,737
Annetta North 565 565 $31,075 $6,215
Annetta South 590 590 $32,450 $6,490
Azle 2,205 2,205 $121,275 $24,255
Cool 185 185 $10,175 $2,035
Cresson 574 574 $31,570 $6,314
Fort Worth 8 8 $440 $88
Hudson Oaks 2,291 2,291 $126,005 $25,201
Millsap 446 446 $24,530 $4,906
Reno 3,027 3,027 $166,485 $33,297
Sanctuary 333 333 $18,315 $3,663
Springtown 3,086 3,086 $169,730 $33,946
Weatherford 31,188 31,188 $1,715,340 $343,068
Willow Park 5,515 5,515 $303,325 $60,665

57,185

Parmer County 9,605 2,538 $139,590 $27,918
Bovina 1,807 1,807 $99,385 $19,877
Farwell 1,326 1,326 $72,930 $14,586
Friona 3,934 3,934 $216,370 $43,274

7,067



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Pecos County 15,823 6,373 $350,515 $70,103
Fort Stockton 8,284 8,284 $455,620 $91,124
Iraan 1,166 1,166 $64,130 $12,826

9,450

Polk County 51,353 41,394 $2,276,670 $455,334
Corrigan 1,691 1,691 $93,005 $18,601
Goodrich 312 312 $17,160 $3,432
Livingston 5,302 5,302 $291,610 $58,322
Onalaska 2,536 2,536 $139,480 $27,896
Seven Oaks 118 118 $6,490 $1,298

9,959

Potter County 117,415 13,017 $715,935 $143,187
Amarillo 104,222 104,222 $5,732,210 $1,146,442
Bishop Hills 176 176 $9,680 $1,936

104,398

Presidio County 6,704 1,077 $59,235 $11,847
Marfa 1,666 1,666 $91,630 $18,326
Presidio 3,961 3,961 $217,855 $43,571

5,627

Rains County 12,514 9,135 $502,425 $100,485
East Tawakoni 992 992 $54,560 $10,912
Emory 1,444 1,444 $79,420 $15,884
Point 943 943 $51,865 $10,373

3,379

Randall County 137,714 22,885 $1,258,675 $251,735
Amarillo 95,702 95,702 $5,263,610 $1,052,722
Canyon 16,733 16,733 $920,315 $184,063
Happy 669 669 $36,795 $7,359
Lake Tanglewood 885 885 $48,675 $9,735
Palisades 348 348 $19,140 $3,828
Timbercreek Canyon 492 492 $27,060 $5,412

114,829

Reagan County 3,849 258 $14,190 $2,838
Big Lake 3,591 3,591 $197,505 $39,501

3,591

Real County 3,452 2,185 $120,175 $24,035
Camp Wood 763 763 $41,965 $8,393
Leakey 504 504 $27,720 $5,544

1,267



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation

Red River County 12,023 6,353 $349,415 $69,883
Annona 290 290 $15,950 $3,190
Avery 444 444 $24,420 $4,884
Bogata 1,080 1,080 $59,400 $11,880
Clarksville 3,159 3,159 $173,745 $34,749
Detroit 697 697 $38,335 $7,667

5,670

Reeves County 15,976 4,980 $273,900 $54,780
Balmorhea 566 566 $31,130 $6,226
Pecos 10,331 10,331 $568,205 $113,641
Toyah 99 99 $5,445 $1,089

10,996

Refugio County 6,948 2,398 $131,890 $26,378
Austwell 145 145 $7,975 $1,595
Bayside 295 295 $16,225 $3,245
Refugio 2,691 2,691 $148,005 $29,601
Woodsboro 1,419 1,419 $78,045 $15,609

4,550

Roberts County 854 303 $16,665 $3,333
Miami 551 551 $30,305 $6,061

551

Robertson County 17,074 8,452 $464,860 $92,972
Bremond 991 991 $54,505 $10,901
Calvert 1,142 1,142 $62,810 $12,562
Franklin 1,698 1,698 $93,390 $18,678
Hearne 4,791 4,791 $263,505 $52,701

8,622

Rockwall County 104,915 14,332 $788,260 $157,652
Fate 14,427 14,427 $793,485 $158,697
Heath 8,417 8,417 $462,935 $92,587
McLendon-Chisholm 3,113 3,113 $171,215 $34,243
Mobile City 208 208 $11,440 $2,288
Rockwall 44,121 44,121 $2,426,655 $485,331
Rowlett 7,983 7,983 $439,065 $87,813
Royse City 10,842 10,842 $596,310 $119,262
Wylie 1,472 1,472 $80,960 $16,192

90,583

Runnels County 10,264 3,618 $198,990 $39,798
Ballinger 3,421 3,421 $188,155 $37,631
Miles 835 835 $45,925 $9,185



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Winters 2,390 2,390 $131,450 $26,290

6,646

Rusk County 54,406 31,756 $1,746,580 $349,316
Easton 53 53 $2,915 $583
Henderson 13,517 13,517 $743,435 $148,687
Kilgore 3,530 3,530 $194,150 $38,830
Mount Enterprise 439 439 $24,145 $4,829
New London 996 996 $54,780 $10,956
Overton 2,500 2,500 $137,500 $27,500
Reklaw 160 160 $8,800 $1,760
Tatum 1,455 1,455 $80,025 $16,005

22,650

Sabine County 10,542 8,463 $465,465 $93,093
Hemphill 1,256 1,256 $69,080 $13,816
Pineland 823 823 $45,265 $9,053

2,079

San Augustine County 8,237 6,121 $336,655 $67,331
Broaddus 205 205 $11,275 $2,255
San Augustine 1,911 1,911 $105,105 $21,021

2,116

San Jacinto County 28,859 24,535 $1,349,425 $269,885
Coldspring 975 975 $53,625 $10,725
Point Blank 749 749 $41,195 $8,239
Shepherd 2,600 2,600 $143,000 $28,600

4,324

San Patricio County 66,730 8,882 $488,510 $97,702
Aransas Pass 7,376 7,376 $405,680 $81,136
Gregory 1,920 1,920 $105,600 $21,120
Ingleside 9,754 9,754 $536,470 $107,294
Ingleside on the Bay 584 584 $32,120 $6,424
Lake City 514 514 $28,270 $5,654
Lakeside 309 309 $16,995 $3,399
Mathis 4,745 4,745 $260,975 $52,195
Odem 2,390 2,390 $131,450 $26,290
Portland 22,151 22,151 $1,218,305 $243,661
Sinton 5,133 5,133 $282,315 $56,463
Taft 2,972 2,972 $163,460 $32,692

57,848

San Saba County 6,055 2,388 $131,340 $26,268
Richland Springs 350 350 $19,250 $3,850
San Saba 3,317 3,317 $182,435 $36,487

3,667



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation

Schleicher County 2,793 1,076 $59,180 $11,836
Eldorado 1,717 1,717 $94,435 $18,887

1,717

Scurry County 16,703 5,323 $292,765 $58,553
Snyder 11,380 11,380 $625,900 $125,180

11,380

Shackelford County 3,265 1,032 $56,760 $11,352
Albany 1,973 1,973 $108,515 $21,703
Moran 260 260 $14,300 $2,860

2,233

Shelby County 25,274 16,467 $905,685 $181,137
Center 5,345 5,345 $293,975 $58,795
Huxley 376 376 $20,680 $4,136
Joaquin 790 790 $43,450 $8,690
Tenaha 1,163 1,163 $63,965 $12,793
Timpson 1,133 1,133 $62,315 $12,463

8,807

Sherman County 3,022 563 $30,965 $6,193
Stratford 2,119 2,119 $116,545 $23,309
Texhoma 340 340 $18,700 $3,740

2,459

Smith County 232,751 98,070 $5,393,850 $1,078,770
Arp 1,029 1,029 $56,595 $11,319
Bullard 3,492 3,492 $192,060 $38,412
Hideaway 3,172 3,172 $174,460 $34,892
Lindale 6,434 6,434 $353,870 $70,774
New Chapel Hill 630 630 $34,650 $6,930
Noonday 805 805 $44,275 $8,855
Troup 1,975 1,975 $108,625 $21,725
Tyler 107,549 107,549 $5,915,195 $1,183,039
Whitehouse 9,002 9,002 $495,110 $99,022
Winona 593 593 $32,615 $6,523

134,681

Somevell County 9,128 6,311 $347,105 $69,421
Glen Rose 2,817 2,817 $154,935 $30,987

2,817

Starr County 64,633 33,399 $1,836,945 $367,389
Escobares 2,854 2,854 $156,970 $31,394



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
La Grulla 1,676 1,676 $92,180 $18,436
Loma Vista CDP 171 171 $9,405 $1,881
Rio Grande City 15,049 15,049 $827,695 $165,539
Roma 11,484 11,484 $631,620 $126,324

31,234

Stephens County 9,366 3,559 $195,745 $39,149
Breckenridge 5,807 5,807 $319,385 $63,877

5,807

Sterling County 1,291 286 $15,730 $3,146
Sterling City 1,005 1,005 $55,275 $11,055

1,005

Stonewall County 1,350 483 $26,565 $5,313
Aspermont 867 867 $47,685 $9,537

867

Sutton County 3,776 727 $39,985 $7,997
Sonora 3,049 3,049 $167,695 $33,539

3,049

Swisher County 7,397 2,022 $111,210 $22,242
Kress 687 687 $37,785 $7,557
Tulia 4,688 4,688 $257,840 $51,568

5,375

Taylor County 138,034 14,765 $812,075 $162,415
Buffalo Gap 498 498 $27,390 $5,478
Impact 33 33 $1,815 $363
Lawn 314 314 $17,270 $3,454
Merkel 2,656 2,656 $146,080 $29,216
Trent 340 340 $18,700 $3,740
Tuscola 752 752 $41,360 $8,272
Tye 1,314 1,314 $72,270 $14,454
Abilene 117,362 117,362 $6,454,910 $1,290,982

123,269

Terrell County 776 776 $42,680 $8,536
776

Terry County 12,337 2,076 $114,180 $22,836
Brownfield 9,484 9,484 $521,620 $104,324
Meadow 578 578 $31,790 $6,358
Wellman 199 199 $10,945 $2,189



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
10,261

Throckmorton County 1,501 487 $26,785 $5,357
Throckmorton 764 764 $42,020 $8,404
Woodson 250 250 $13,750 $2,750

1,014

Titus 32,750 14,297 $786,335 $157,267
Miller's Cove 156 156 $8,580 $1,716
Mount Pleasant 17,237 17,237 $948,035 $189,607
Talco 518 518 $28,490 $5,698
Winfield 542 542 $29,810 $5,962

18,453

Tom Green 119,200 19,406 $1,067,330 $213,466
San Angelo 99,794 99,794 $5,488,670 $1,097,734

99,794

Trinity County 14,651 10,802 $594,110 $118,822
Groveton 1,084 1,084 $59,620 $11,924
Trinity 2,765 2,765 $152,075 $30,415

3,849

Tyler County 21,672 15,982 $879,010 $175,802
Chester 324 324 $17,820 $3,564
Colmesneil 611 611 $33,605 $6,721
Ivanhoe 2,009 2,009 $110,495 $22,099
Woodville 2,746 2,746 $151,030 $30,206

5,690

Upshur County 41,753 30,430 $1,673,650 $334,730
Big Sandy 1,384 1,384 $76,120 $15,224
East Mountain 837 837 $46,035 $9,207
Gilmer 5,032 5,032 $276,760 $55,352
Gladewater 2,470 2,470 $135,850 $27,170
Ore City 1,219 1,219 $67,045 $13,409
Union Grove 373 373 $20,515 $4,103
Warren 8 8 $440 $88

11,323

Upton County 3,657 698 $38,390 $7,678
McCamey 2,103 2,103 $115,665 $23,133
Rankin 856 856 $47,080 $9,416

2,959



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Uvalde County 26,741 8,622 $474,210 $94,842
Sabinal 1,751 1,751 $96,305 $19,261
Uvalde 16,368 16,368 $900,240 $180,048

18,119

Val Verde County 49,025 13,173 $724,515 $144,903
Del Rio 35,852 35,852 $1,971,860 $394,372

35,852

Van Zandt County 56,950 40,537 $2,229,535 $445,907
Canton 4,015 4,015 $220,825 $44,165
Edgewood 1,556 1,556 $85,580 $17,116
Edom 410 410 $22,550 $4,510
Fruitvale 434 434 $23,870 $4,774
Grand Saline 3,284 3,284 $180,620 $36,124
Van 2,900 2,900 $159,500 $31,900
Wills Point 3,814 3,814 $209,770 $41,954

16,413

Victoria County 92,084 24,758 $1,361,690 $272,338
Victoria 67,326 67,326 $3,702,930 $740,586

67,326

Walker County 72,971 29,868 $1,642,740 $328,548
Huntsville 41,453 41,453 $2,279,915 $455,983
New Waverly 1,091 1,091 $60,005 $12,001
Riverside 559 559 $30,745 $6,149

43,103

Waller County 55,246 29,261 $1,609,355 $321,871
Brookshire 5,685 5,685 $312,675 $62,535
Hempstead 7,309 7,309 $401,995 $80,399
Katy 1,806 1,806 $99,330 $19,866
Pattison 601 601 $33,055 $6,611
Pine Island 1,190 1,190 $65,450 $13,090
Prairie View 6,560 6,560 $360,800 $72,160
Waller 2,834 2,834 $155,870 $31,174

25,985

Ward County 11,998 2,418 $132,990 $26,598
Barstow 377 377 $20,735 $4,147
Grandfalls 381 381 $20,955 $4,191
Monahans 7,638 7,638 $420,090 $84,018
Pyote 131 131 $7,205 $1,441
Thorntonville 515 515 $28,325 $5,665
Wickett 538 538 $29,590 $5,918

9,580

Washington County 35,882 17,829 $980,595 $196,119



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Brenham 17,752 17,752 $976,360 $195,272
Burton 301 301 $16,555 $3,311

18,053

Webb County 276,652 643 $35,365 $7,073
El Cenizo 3,119 3,119 $171,545 $34,309
Laredo 268,057 268,057 $14,743,135 $2,948,627
Rio Bravo 4,833 4,833 $265,815 $53,163

276,009

Wharton County 41,556 18,773 $1,032,515 $206,503
East Bernard 2,367 2,367 $130,185 $26,037
El Campo 11,782 11,782 $648,010 $129,602
Wharton 8,634 8,634 $474,870 $94,974

22,783

Wheeler County 5,056 1,679 $92,345 $18,469
Mobeetie 96 96 $5,280 $1,056
Shamrock 1,797 1,797 $98,835 $19,767
Wheeler 1,484 1,484 $81,620 $16,324

3,377

Wichita County 132,230 4,856 $267,080 $53,416
Burkburnett 11,223 11,223 $617,265 $123,453
Cashion Community 347 347 $19,085 $3,817
Electra 2,740 2,740 $150,700 $30,140
Iowa Park 6,364 6,364 $350,020 $70,004
Pleasant Valley 338 338 $18,590 $3,718
Wichita Falls 106,362 106,362 $5,849,910 $1,169,982

127,374

Wilbarger County 12,769 2,581 $141,955 $28,391
Vernon 10,188 10,188 $560,340 $112,068

10,188

Willacy County 21,358 7,073 $389,015 $77,803
Lyford 2,576 2,576 $141,680 $28,336
Raymondville 11,144 11,144 $612,920 $122,584
San Perlita 565 565 $31,075 $6,215

14,285

Wilson County 51,070 37,729 $2,075,095 $415,019
Floresville 7,927 7,927 $435,985 $87,197
La Vernia 1,387 1,387 $76,285 $15,257
Nixon 8 8 $440 $88



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation
Poth 2,332 2,332 $128,260 $25,652
Stockdale 1,687 1,687 $92,785 $18,557

13,341

Winkler County 8,010 799 $43,945 $8,789
Kermit 6,178 6,178 $339,790 $67,958
Wink 1,033 1,033 $56,815 $11,363

7,211

Wise County 69,984 42,809 $2,354,495 $470,899
Alvord 1,605 1,605 $88,275 $17,655
Aurora 1,576 1,576 $86,680 $17,336
Boyd 1,467 1,467 $80,685 $16,137
Bridgeport 7,092 7,092 $390,060 $78,012
Chico 1,170 1,170 $64,350 $12,870
Decatur 7,013 7,013 $385,715 $77,143
Lake Bridgeport 398 398 $21,890 $4,378
New Fairview 1,581 1,581 $86,955 $17,391
Newark 1,228 1,228 $67,540 $13,508
Paradise 572 572 $31,460 $6,292
Rhome 1,933 1,933 $106,315 $21,263
Runaway Bay 1,540 1,540 $84,700 $16,940

27,175

Wood County 45,539 33,863 $1,862,465 $372,493
Alba 554 554 $30,470 $6,094
Hawkins 1,392 1,392 $76,560 $15,312
Mineola 4,843 4,843 $266,365 $53,273
Quitman 1,888 1,888 $103,840 $20,768
Winnsboro 2,588 2,588 $142,340 $28,468
Yantis 411 411 $22,605 $4,521

11,676

Yoakum County 8,713 2,166 $119,130 $23,826
Denver City 4,878 4,878 $268,290 $53,658
Plains 1,669 1,669 $91,795 $18,359

6,547

Young County 18,010 5,363 $294,965 $58,993
Graham 8,950 8,950 $492,250 $98,450
Newcastle 559 559 $30,745 $6,149
Olney 3,138 3,138 $172,590 $34,518

12,647

Zavala County 11,840 4,570 $251,350 $50,270
Crystal City 7,270 7,270 $399,850 $79,970

7,270



Place
Jan 2019 Population 

Est.
Relative 

Population $55 Per Capita 20% of Allocation

Zapata County 14,179 14,179 $779,845 $155,969
$583,082,555 $116,616,511

Data Source for county data is taken from the U.S. Census Vintage 2019 population estimates as used by the U.S. Treasury.  
This data can be found at the following link:    https://www.census.gov/data/tables/time-series/demo/popest/2010s-

Data Source for other jurisdiction population numbers are taken from the Texas Demographic Center's 2019 population 
estimates.  This data can be found at the following link:  https://demographics.texas.gov/Data/TPEPP/Estimates/



 

P a g e  21 | 23 

EXHIBIT B 

EXHIBIT B – CARES ACT CORONAVIRUS RELIEF FUND ELIGIBILITY CERTIFICATION  
 

 

I, ____________________, am the County Judge, Mayor or City Manager of _______________________ 
(“County”/”Municipality”), and I certify that: 

1. I have the authority on behalf of County/Municipality to request grant payments from the State of 
Texas (“State”) for federal funds appropriated pursuant to section 601 of the Social Security Act, as 
added by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, Pub. L. No. 116-136, 
div. A, Title V (Mar. 27, 2020). 

2. I understand that the State will rely on this certification as a material representation in making grant 
payments to the County/Municipality.  

3. I acknowledge that County should keep records sufficient to demonstrate that the expenditure of 
funds it has received is in accordance with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act. 

4. I acknowledge that all records and expenditures are subject to audit by the United States Department 
of Treasury’s Inspector General, the Texas Division of Emergency Management, and the Texas State 
Auditor’s Office, or designee.   

5. I acknowledge that County has an affirmative obligation to identify and report any duplication of 
benefits. I understand that the State has an obligation and the authority to deobligate or offset any 
duplicated benefits.   

6. I acknowledge and agree that County/Municipality shall be liable for any costs disallowed pursuant to 
financial or compliance audits of funds received.  

7. I acknowledge that if County has not used funds it has received to cover costs that were incurred by 
December 30, 2020, as required by the statute, those funds must be returned to the United States 
Department of the Treasury. 

8. I acknowledge that the County/Municipality’s proposed uses of the funds provided as grant payments 
from the State by federal appropriation under section 601 of the Social Security Act will be used only 
to cover those costs that: 

a. are necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency and 
governor’s disaster declaration on March 13, 2020 with respect to the Coronavirus 
Disease 2019 (COVID-19); 

b. were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020, 
for County/Municipality; and 

c. were incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020 and ends on December 
30, 2020. 

In addition to each of the statements above, I acknowledge on submission of this certification that my jurisdiction 

has incurred eligible expenses between March 1, 2020 and the date noted below. 

By: _________________________________ 

Signature:____________________________ 

Title:________________________________ 

Date:________________________________ 



 

P a g e  22 | 23 

EXHIBIT C 

 

EXHIBIT C - CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING 
 
 

Certification for Contracts, Grants, Loans, and Cooperative Agreements 
 
The undersigned grantee, ______________________, certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge that: 
 

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the undersigned, to 

any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of an agency, a Member 

of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in 

connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of 

any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, 

renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for 
influencing or attempting to influence any officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, 
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this 
Federal contract, grant, loan or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and submit 
Standard Form – LLL, “Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions. 

 
3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 

documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts under grants, 
loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly. 

 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was 

made or entered into.  Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction 

imposed by 31 U.S.C. Sec. 1352 (as amended by the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 119).  Any person who fails to file 

the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 

for each such failure. 

 

The grantee, ___________________, certifies or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of each statement of its 

certification and disclosure, if any.  In addition, grantee understands and agrees that the provisions of 31 U.S.C. 

Sec. 3801 et seq. apply to his certification and disclosure, if any. 

 

 
 

By: _________________________________ 

Signature:____________________________ 

Title:________________________________ 

Date:________________________________ 



P a g e  30 | 30 

SIGNATURE PAGE 

Please initial by each Exhibit, acknowledging you have received them, understand them, and agree to abide by 
them.  
 
 
______ State of Texas Assurances, hereinafter referred to as “Exhibit A”  
 
______ CARES Act Coronavirus Relief Fund Eligibility Certification, hereinafter referred to as “Exhibit B”  
 
______ Certification Regarding Lobbying, hereinafter referred to as “Exhibit C”  
 
 
Please sign below to acknowledged acceptance of the grant and all exhibits in this Grant Agreement, and to 
abide by all terms and conditions.  
 
 

By: _________________________________ 

Signature:____________________________  

Title:________________________________ 

Date:________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 



P a g e  1 | 23 

  

CORONAVIRUS RELIEF FUND (CRF)  
TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

TEXAS DIVISION OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

MAY 11, 2020 

 



P a g e  2 | 23 

 

 

About This Document 

In this document, grantees will find the terms and conditions applicable to payments distributed in the 
form of grants to local units of governments from the Coronavirus Relief Fund established within section 
601 of the Social Security Act, as added by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic 
Security Act (“CARES Act”).  

 

These requirements are in addition to those that can be found within the Grant Management System 
(GMS), to which grantees agreed to when accepting the grant. Other state and federal requirements and 
conditions may apply to your grant, including but not limited to: 2 CFR Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards; Chapter 783 of the Texas 
Government Code; the Uniform Grant Management Standards (UGMS) developed by the Comptroller of 
Public Accounts; the state Funding Announcement or Solicitation under which the grant application was 
made; and any applicable documents referenced in the documents listed above.  

To the extent the terms and conditions of this grant agreement do not address a particular circumstance 
or are otherwise unclear or ambiguous, such terms and conditions are to be construed consistent with the 
general objectives, expectations and purposes of this grant agreement and in all cases, according to its fair 
meaning. The parties acknowledge that each party and its counsel have reviewed this grant agreement 
and that any rule of construction to the effect that any ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting 
party shall not be employed in the interpretation of this grant agreement. Any vague, ambiguous or 
conflicting terms shall be interpreted and construed in such a manner as to accomplish the purpose of the 
grant agreement. 
 
 
 

  



P a g e  3 | 23 

 

Table of Contents 
About This Document ............................................................................................................................... 2 

1 Grant Agreement Requirements and Conditions ...................................................................................... 5 

1.1 Applicability of Grant Agreement and Provisions ......................................................................... 5 
1.2 Legal Authority to Apply ............................................................................................................... 5 
1.3 Grant Acceptance .......................................................................................................................... 5 
1.4 Project Period................................................................................................................................ 5 
1.5 General Responsibility .................................................................................................................. 5 
1.6 Amendments and Changes to the Grant Agreement ................................................................... 6 
1.7 Jurisdictional Cooperation ............................................................................................................ 7 
1.8 Public Information and Meetings ................................................................................................. 7 
1.9 Remedies for Non-Compliance ..................................................................................................... 7 
1.10 False Statements by Grantee ........................................................................................................ 8 
1.11 Conflict of Interest Safeguards...................................................................................................... 8 
1.12 Fraud, Waste, and Abuse .............................................................................................................. 8 
1.13 Termination of the Agreement ..................................................................................................... 9 
1.14 Limitation of Liability..................................................................................................................... 9 
1.15 Dispute Resolution ...................................................................................................................... 10 
1.16 Liability for Taxes ........................................................................................................................ 10 
1.17 Required State Assurances ......................................................................................................... 10 
1.18 System for Award Management (SAM) Requirements............................................................... 10 
1.19 No Obligation by Federal Government ....................................................................................... 11 
1.20 Notice .......................................................................................................................................... 11 
1.21 Force Majeure ............................................................................................................................. 11 
1.22 Debt to State ............................................................................................................................... 11 
1.23 Franchise Tax Certification .......................................................................................................... 11 
1.24 Severability .................................................................................................................................. 12 
1.25 E-Verify ........................................................................................................................................ 12 
1.26 Compliance with Federal Law, Regulations, and Executive Orders ............................................ 12 
1.27 Clean Air Act ................................................................................................................................ 12 
1.28 Federal Water Pollution Control Act ........................................................................................... 12 
1.29 Suspension and Debarment ........................................................................................................ 12 
1.30 Energy Conservation ................................................................................................................... 13 
1.31 Procurement of Recovered Materials ......................................................................................... 13 
1.32 Terminated Contracts ................................................................................................................. 13 

2 Property and Procurement Requirements .............................................................................................. 13 

2.1 Property Management and Inventory ........................................................................................ 13 
2.2 Consulting Contracts ................................................................................................................... 14 
2.3 Procurement Practices and Policies ............................................................................................ 14 
2.4 Contract Provisions Under Federal Awards ................................................................................ 14 

3 Audit and Records Requirements ............................................................................................................ 14 

3.1 Cooperation with Monitoring, Audits, and Records Requirements ........................................... 14 
3.2 Single Audit Requirements.......................................................................................................... 15 
3.3 Requirement to Address Audit Findings ..................................................................................... 15 



P a g e  4 | 23 

3.4 Records Retention ....................................................................................................................... 15 
4 Prohibited and Regulated Activities and Expenditures ........................................................................... 16 

4.1 Prohibited Costs .......................................................................................................................... 16 
4.2 Political Activities ........................................................................................................................ 16 

5 Financial Requirements............................................................................................................................ 17 

5.1 Direct Deposit ............................................................................................................................. 17 
5.2 Payments and Required Documentation .................................................................................... 17 
5.3 Financial Reporting ..................................................................................................................... 17 
5.4 Reimbursements ......................................................................................................................... 18 
5.5 Refunds and Deductions ............................................................................................................. 18 
5.6 Recapture of Funds ..................................................................................................................... 18 
5.7 Liquidation Period ....................................................................................................................... 18 
5.8 Project Close Out ........................................................................................................................ 18 

EXHIBIT A - State of Texas Assurances ............................................................................................................. 19 

EXHIBIT B – CARES ACT CORONAVIRUS RELIEF FUND ELIGIBILITY CERTIFICATION ......................................... 21 

EXHIBIT C - CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING ........................................................................................ 22 

 

  



P a g e  5 | 23 

1 Grant Agreement Requirements and Conditions 
 

1.1 Applicability of Grant Agreement and Provisions 

The Grant Agreement is subject to the additional terms, conditions, and requirements of other laws, rules, 
regulations and plans recited herein and is intended to be the full and complete expression of and 
constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof 
and all prior and contemporaneous understandings, agreements, promises, representations, terms and 
conditions, both oral and written, are superseded and replaced by this Grant Agreement. 

Notwithstanding any expiration or termination of this Grant Agreement, the rights and obligations 
pertaining to the grant close-out, cooperation and provision of additional information, return of grant 
funds, audit rights, records retention, public information, and any other provision implying survivability 
shall remain in effect after the expiration or termination of this Grant Agreement. 

1.2 Legal Authority to Apply 

The grantee certifies that it possesses legal authority to apply for the grant. A resolution, motion or similar 
action has been or will be duly adopted or passed as an official act of the applicant’s governing body, 
authorizing the filing of the application, including all understandings and assurances contained therein, 
and directing and authorizing the person identified as the official representative, or their designee of the 
organization to act in connection with the application and to provide such additional information as may 
be required.  

1.3 Grant Acceptance 

The Notice of Subrecipient Grant Award remains an offer until the fully executed copy of this Grant 
Agreement is received by the Texas Division of Emergency Management (TDEM). 

1.4 Project Period 

Funding has been authorized for eligible expenditures incurred between March 1, 2020 and December 30, 
2020.  The specific performance period for this grant is listed on the Notice of Subrecipient Grant Award. 
All expenditures must be incurred, and all services must be received within the performance period. TDEM 
will not be obligated to reimburse expenses incurred after the performance period.  A cost is incurred 
when the responsible unit of government has expended funds to cover the cost. 

1.5 General Responsibility 

Per the CARES Act, CRF grant funds may only be used to cover expenses that –  

1. are necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency with respect to 
the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) 

2. were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020 for the 
state or government; and 

3. were incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020 and ends on December 30, 
2020. 

The US Department of Treasury (Treasury) provided additional guidance on the permissible use of grant 

funds, including nonexclusive examples of eligible expenses in the following categories:  

1. Medical expenses, 

2. Public health expenses, 



P a g e  6 | 23 

3. Payroll expenses for public safety, public health, health care, human services, and similar 
employees whose services are substantially dedicated to mitigating or responding to the 
COVID-19 public health emergency, 

4. Expenses of actions to facilitate compliance with COVID-19-related public health measures,  

5. Expenses associated with the provision of economic support in connection with the COVID-
19 public health emergency, and  

6. Any other COVID-19-related expenses reasonably necessary to the function of government 
that satisfy the Fund’s eligibility criteria. 

Further explanation of these categories and examples can be found at the following link: 

https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-Territorial-Local-

and-Tribal-Governments.pdf 

https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Frequently-Asked-Questions.pdf  

The subrecipient agrees that a minimum of 75% of its allotment will be spent in the categories of medical 

expenses, public health expenses and payroll expenses for employees substantially dedicated to mitigating 

or responding to the public emergency. The remainder of the allotment may be spent in any of the categories 

provided within the Treasury guidance. 

The grantee certifies compliance with these eligible expenses by executing the CARES Act Coronavirus Relief 
Fund Eligibility Certification Form in Exhibit E, which is attached hereto and incorporated for all purposes. 

The grantee is responsible for the integrity of the fiscal and programmatic management of the grant project; 
accountability for all funds awarded; and compliance with TDEM administrative rules, policies and 
procedures, and applicable federal and state laws and regulations. 

The grantee will maintain an appropriate grant administration system to ensure that all terms, conditions 
and specifications of the grant are met.  

1.6 Amendments and Changes to the Grant Agreement 

TDEM and the grantee may agree to make adjustments to the grant. Adjustments include, but are not 
limited to, modifying the scope of the grant project, adding funds to previously un-awarded cost items or 
categories changing funds in any awarded cost items or category, deobligating awarded funds or changing 
grant officials.  

The grantee has no right or entitlement to reimbursement with grant funds. TDEM and grantee agree that 
any act, action or representation by either Party, their agents or employees that purports to waive or alter 
the terms of the Grant Agreement or increase the maximum liability of TDEM is void unless a written 
amendment to this Grant Agreement is first executed and documented in GMS. The grantee agrees that 
nothing in this Grant Agreement will be interpreted to create an obligation or liability of TDEM in excess of 
the "Maximum Liability of the TDEM" as set forth in the Notice of Subrecipient Grant Award. 

Any alterations, additions, or deletions to the terms of this Grant Agreement must be documented in GMS 
to be binding upon the Parties.  Notwithstanding this requirement, it is understood and agreed by Parties 
hereto, that changes in local, state and federal rules, regulations or laws applicable hereto, may occur during 
the term of this Grant Agreement and that any such changes shall be automatically incorporated into this 
Grant Agreement without written amendment hereto, and shall become a part hereof as of the effective 
date of the rule, regulation or law. 

https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Guidance-for-State-Territorial-Local-and-Tribal-Governments.pdf
https://home.treasury.gov/system/files/136/Coronavirus-Relief-Fund-Frequently-Asked-Questions.pdf


P a g e  7 | 23 

1.7 Jurisdictional Cooperation 

A municipality may yield any portion of its allocated funds to the county within which it exists or a county 

may yield any portion of its allocated funds to a municipality within its footprint for eligible expenses. This 

may be accomplished in one of the following ways: 

1. By a grant amendment, as described in section 1.6, where by funds are deobligated from the original 
subrecipient and then added to previously un-awarded costs items or categories of the receiving 
jurisdiction’s grant award. 

2. A subrecipient may use funds pursuant to this agreement to subcontract with another political 
subdivision within its jurisdiction for eligible and necessary expenditures incurred due to the public 
health emergency.  The subrecipient is responsible for ensuring subcontractor eligibility and 
maintaining all required documentation. 

1.8 Public Information and Meetings 

Notwithstanding any provisions of this Grant Agreement to the contrary, the grantee acknowledges that 
the State of Texas, TDEM, and this Grant Agreement are subject to the Texas Public Information Act, Texas 
Government Code Chapter 552 (the “PIA”). The grantee acknowledges that TDEM will comply with the 
PIA, as interpreted by judicial opinions and opinions of the Attorney General of the State of Texas. 

The grantee acknowledges that information created or exchanged in connection with this Grant 
Agreement, including all reimbursement documentation submitted to TDEM, is subject to the PIA, 
whether created or produced by the grantee or any third party, and the grantee agrees that information 
not otherwise excepted from disclosure under the PIA, will be available in a format that is accessible by 
the public at no additional charge to TDEM or State of Texas. The grantee will cooperate with TDEM in the 
production of documents or information responsive to a request for information.  

1.9 Remedies for Non-Compliance 

If TDEM determines that the grantee materially fails to comply with any term of this grant agreement, 
whether stated in a federal or state statute or regulation, an assurance, in a state plan or application, a 
notice of award, or any other applicable requirement, TDEM, in its sole discretion may take actions 
including: 

1. Temporarily withholding cash payments pending correction of the deficiency or more severe 
enforcement action by TDEM; 

2. Disallowing or denying use of funds for all or part of the cost of the activity or action not in 
compliance; 

3. Disallowing claims for reimbursement; 

4. Wholly or partially suspending or terminating this grant;  

5. Requiring return or offset of previous reimbursements; 

6. Prohibiting the grantee from applying for or receiving additional funds for other grant programs 
administered by TDEM until repayment to TDEM is made and any other compliance or audit finding 
is satisfactorily resolved; 

7. Reducing the grant award maximum liability of TDEM; 

8. Terminating this Grant Agreement; 

9. Imposing a corrective action plan; 



P a g e  8 | 23 

10. Withholding further awards; or 

11. Taking other remedies or appropriate actions. 

The grantee costs resulting from obligations incurred during a suspension or after termination of this grant 
are not allowable unless TDEM expressly authorizes them in the notice of suspension or termination or 
subsequently. 

TDEM, at its sole discretion, may impose sanctions without first requiring a corrective action plan. 

1.10 False Statements by Grantee 

By acceptance of this grant agreement, the grantee makes all the statements, representations, warranties, 
guarantees, certifications and affirmations included in this grant agreement. If applicable, the grantee will 
comply with the requirements of 31 USC § 3729, which set forth that no grantee of federal payments shall 
submit a false claim for payment. 

If any of the statements, representations, certifications, affirmations, warranties, or guarantees are false 
or if the grantee signs or executes the grant agreement with a false statement or it is subsequently 
determined that the grantee has violated any of the statements, representations, warranties, guarantees, 
certifications or affirmations included in this grant agreement, then TDEM may consider this act a possible 
default under this grant agreement and may terminate or void this grant agreement for cause and pursue 
other remedies available to TDEM under this grant agreement and applicable law. False statements or 
claims made in connection with TDEM grants may result in fines, imprisonment, and debarment from 
participating in federal grants or contract, and/or other remedy available by law, potentially including the 
provisions of 38 USC §§ 3801-3812, which details the administrative remedies for false claims and 
statements made. 

1.11 Conflict of Interest Safeguards 

The grantee will establish safeguards to prohibit its employees from using their positions for a purpose that 
constitutes or presents the appearance of personal or organizational conflict of interest or personal gain, 
whether for themselves or others, particularly those with whom they have family, business, or other ties. 
The grantee will operate with complete independence and objectivity without actual, potential, or apparent 
conflict of interest with respect to its performance under this Grant Agreement. The grantee certifies as to 
its own organization, that to the best of their knowledge and belief, no member of The A&M System or The 
A&M System Board of Regents, nor any employee, or person, whose salary is payable in whole or in part by 
a member of The A&M System, has direct or indirect financial interest in the award of this Grant Agreement, 
or in the services to which this Grant Agreement relates, or in any of the profits, real or potential, thereof. 

1.12 Fraud, Waste, and Abuse 

The grantee understands that TDEM does not tolerate any type of fraud, waste, or misuse of funds 
received from TDEM. TDEM’s policy is to promote consistent, legal, and ethical organizational behavior, 
by assigning responsibilities and providing guidelines to enforce controls. Any violations of law, TDEM 
policies, or standards of ethical conduct will be investigated, and appropriate actions will be taken. The 
grantee understands and agrees that misuse of award funds may result in a range of penalties, including 
suspension of current and future funds, suspension or debarment from federal and state grants, 
recoupment of monies provided under an award, and civil and/or criminal penalties. 

In the event grantee becomes aware of any allegation or a finding of fraud, waste, or misuse of funds 
received from TDEM that is made against the grantee, the grantee is required to immediately notify TDEM 
of said allegation or finding and to continue to inform TDEM of the status of any such on-going 
investigations. The grantee must also promptly refer to TDEM any credible evidence that a principal, 



P a g e  9 | 23 

employee, agent, grantee, contractor, subcontractor, or other person has -- (1) submitted a claim for 
award funds that violates the False Claims Act; or (2) committed a criminal or civil violation of laws 
pertaining to fraud, conflict of interest, bribery, gratuity, or similar misconduct involving award funds. 
Grantees must also immediately notify TDEM in writing of any misappropriation of funds, fraud, theft, 
embezzlement, forgery, or any other serious irregularities indicating noncompliance with grant 
requirements. Grantees must notify the local prosecutor's office of any possible criminal violations. 
Grantees must immediately notify TDEM in writing if a project or project personnel become involved in 
any litigation, whether civil or criminal, and the grantee must immediately forward a copy of any demand, 
notices, subpoenas, lawsuits, or indictments to TDEM.  

1.13 Termination of the Agreement 

TDEM may, at its sole discretion, terminate this Grant Agreement, without recourse, liability or penalty 
against TDEM, upon written notice to grantee. In the event grantee fails to perform or comply with an 
obligation or a term, condition or provision of this Grant Agreement, TDEM may, upon written notice to 
grantee, terminate this agreement for cause, without further notice or opportunity to cure. Such 
notification of Termination for Cause will state the effective date of such termination, and if no effective 
date is specified, the effective date will be the date of the notification. 

TDEM and grantee may mutually agree to terminate this Grant Agreement. TDEM in its sole discretion will 
determine if, as part of the agreed termination, grantee is required to return any or all of the disbursed 
grant funds. 

Termination is not an exclusive remedy, but will be in addition to any other rights and remedies provided 
in equity, by law, or under this Grant Agreement, including those remedies listed at 2 C.F.R. 200.207  and 
2 C.F.R. 200.338 – 200.342. Following termination by TDEM, grantee shall continue to be obligated to 
TDEM for the return of grant funds in accordance with applicable provisions of this Grant Agreement. In 
the event of termination under this Section, TDEM's obligation to reimburse grantee is limited to allowable 
costs incurred and paid by the grantee prior to the effective date of termination, and any allowable costs 
determined by TDEM in its sole discretion to be reasonable and necessary to cost-effectively wind up the 
grant. Termination of this Grant Agreement for any reason or expiration of this Grant Agreement shall not 
release the Parties from any liability or obligation set forth in this Grant Agreement that is expressly stated 
to survive any such termination or expiration. 

1.14 Limitation of Liability 

TO THE EXTENT ALLOWED BY LAW, THE GRANTEE SHALL DEFEND, INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS THE 

STATE OF TEXAS AND AGENCY, AND/OR THEIR OFFICERS, REGENTS, AGENTS, EMPLOYEES, REPRESENTATIVES, 

CONTRACTORS, ASSIGNEES, AND/OR DESIGNEES FROM ANY AND ALL LIABILITY, ACTIONS, CLAIMS, DEMANDS, 

OR SUITS, AND ALL RELATED COSTS, ATTORNEY FEES, AND EXPENSES ARISING OUT OF, OR RESULTING FROM 

ANY ACTS OR OMISSIONS OF RESPONDENT OR ITS AGENTS, EMPLOYEES, SUBCONTRACTORS, ORDER 

FULFILLERS, OR SUPPLIERS OF SUBCONTRACTORS IN THE EXECUTION OR PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTRACT 

AND ANY PURCHASE ORDERS ISSUED UNDER THE CONTRACT. THE DEFENSE SHALL BE COORDINATED BY 

RESPONDENT WITH THE OFFICE OF THE TEXAS ATTORNEY GENERAL WHEN TEXAS STATE AGENCIES ARE 

NAMED DEFENDANTS IN ANY LAWSUIT AND RESPONDENT MAY NOT AGREE TO ANY SETTLEMENT WITHOUT 

FIRST OBTAINING THE CONCURRENCE FROM THE OFFICE OF THE TEXAS ATTORNEY GENERAL. RESPONDENT 

AND AGENCY AGREE TO FURNISH TIMELY WRITTEN NOTICE TO EACH OTHER OF ANY SUCH CLAIM.  

The grantee agrees that no provision of this Grant Agreement is in any way intended to constitute a waiver 
by TDEM as an agency of the State of Texas, its officers, regents, employees, agents, or contractors or the 
State of Texas of any privileges, rights, defenses, remedies, or immunities from suit and liability that TDEM 
or the State of Texas may have by operation of law. 



P a g e  10 | 23 

1.15 Dispute Resolution  

The Parties’ representatives will meet as needed to implement the terms of this Grant Agreement and will 
make a good faith attempt to informally resolve any disputes.   

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Grant Agreement to the contrary, unless otherwise requested or 
approved in writing by TDEM, the grantee shall continue performance and shall not be excused from 
performance during the period any breach of Grant Agreement claim or dispute is pending. 

The dispute resolution process provided in Chapter 2260, Texas Government Code, and the related rules 
adopted by the Texas Attorney General pursuant to Chapter 2260, shall be used by TDEM and grantee to 
attempt to resolve any claim for breach of contract made by the grantee that cannot be resolved in the 
ordinary course of business.  Grantee shall submit written notice of a claim of breach of contract under this 
Chapter to the Chief of TDEM, who shall examine the grantee’s claim and any counterclaim and negotiate 
with grantee in an effort to resolve the claim. 

The laws of the State of Texas govern this Grant Agreement and all disputes arising out of or relating to this 
Grant Agreement, without regard to any otherwise applicable conflict of law rules or requirements. Venue 
for any grantee-initiated action, suit, litigation or other proceeding arising out of or in any way relating to 
this Grant Agreement shall be commenced exclusively in the Travis County District Court or the United States 
District Court, Southern District of Texas - Houston Division. Venue for any TDEM-initiated action, suit, 
litigation or other proceeding arising out of or in any way relating to this Grant Agreement may be 
commenced in a Texas state district court or a United States District Court selected by TDEM in its sole 
discretion. 

The grantee hereby irrevocably and unconditionally consents to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts 
referenced above for the purpose of prosecuting and/or defending such litigation. The grantee hereby waives 
and agrees not to assert by way of motion, as a defense, or otherwise, in any suit, action or proceeding, any 
claim that the grantee is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of the above-named courts; the suit, action 
or proceeding is brought in an inconvenient forum; and/or the venue is improper. 

1.16 Liability for Taxes 

The grantee agrees and acknowledges that grantee is an independent contractor and shall be entirely 
responsible for the liability and payment of grantee’s and grantee’s employees’ taxes of whatever kind, 
arising out of the performances in this Grant Agreement. The grantee agrees to comply with all state and 
federal laws applicable to any such persons, including laws regarding wages, taxes, insurance, and workers' 
compensation. TDEM and/or the State of Texas shall not be liable to the grantee, its employees, agents, or 
others for the payment of taxes or the provision of unemployment insurance and/or workers’ compensation 
or any benefit available to a state employee or employee of TDEM.  

1.17 Required State Assurances 

The grantee must comply with the applicable State Assurances included within the State Uniform Grant 
Management Standards (UGMS), Section III, Subpart B, _.14, which are attached hereto and incorporated 
for all purposes as Exhibit A.  

1.18 System for Award Management (SAM) Requirements 

A. The grantee agrees to comply with applicable requirements regarding registration with the System for 
Award Management (SAM) (or with a successor government-wide system officially designated by OMB 
and, if applicable, the federal funding agency). These requirements include maintaining current 
registrations and the currency of the information in SAM. The grantee will review and update 
information at least annually until submission of the final financial report required under the award or 



P a g e  11 | 23 

receipt of final payment, whichever is later, as required by 2 CFR Part 25. 

B. The grantee will comply with Executive Orders 12549 and 12689 that requires “a contract award (see 
2 CFR 180.220) must not be made to parties listed on the government-wide exclusions in the System 
for Award Management (SAM)”, in accordance with the OMB guidelines at 2 CFR 180 that implement 
Executive Orders 12549 (3 CFR part 1986 Comp., p. 189) and 12689 (3 CFR part 1989 Comp., p. 235), 
“Debarment and Suspension.” SAM Exclusions contains the names of parties debarred, suspended, or 
otherwise excluded by agencies, as well as parties declared ineligible under statutory or regulatory 
authority. The grantee certifies it will verify each vendor’s status to ensure the vendor is not debarred, 
suspended, otherwise excluded or declared ineligible by checking the SAM before doing/renewing 
business with that vendor. 

C. The grantee certifies that it and its principals are eligible to participate in this Grant Agreement and 
have not been subjected to suspension, debarment, or similar ineligibility determined by any federal, 
state or local governmental entity and the grantee is in compliance with the State of Texas statutes 
and rules relating to procurement and that the grantee is not listed in the federal government’s 
terrorism watch list as described in Executive Order 13224. 

1.19 No Obligation by Federal Government 

The Parties acknowledge and agree that the federal government is not a party to this Grant Agreement 

and is not subject to any obligations or liabilities to either Party, third party or subcontractor pertaining to 

any matter resulting from this Grant Agreement.   

1.20 Notice 

Notice may be given to the grantee via GMS, email, hand-delivery, or United States Mail. Notices to the 
grantee will be sent to the name and address supplied by grantee in GMS.  
 
1.21 Force Majeure 

Neither the grantee nor TDEM shall be required to perform any obligation under this Grant Agreement or be 
liable or responsible for any loss or damage resulting from its failure to perform so long as performance is 
delayed by force majeure or acts of God, including but not limited to strikes, lockouts or labor shortages, 
embargo, riot, war, revolution, terrorism, rebellion, insurrection, pandemic, flood, natural disaster, or 
interruption of utilities from external causes. Each Party must inform the other in writing, with proof of 
receipt, within three (3) business days of the existence of such force majeure, or otherwise waive this right 
as a defense.   

1.22 Debt to State 

The grantee certifies, to the extent grantee owes any debt (child support or other obligation) or delinquent 
taxes to the State of Texas, any payments grantee is owed under this Grant Agreement may be applied by 
the Comptroller of Public Accounts toward any such debt or delinquent taxes until such debt or delinquent 
taxes are paid in full.  

1.23 Franchise Tax Certification 

If grantee is a taxable entity subject to the Texas Franchise Tax (Chapter 171, Texas Tax Code), then grantee 

certifies that it is not currently delinquent in the payment of any franchise (margin) taxes or that grantee is 

exempt from the payment of franchise (margin) taxes. 



P a g e  12 | 23 

1.24 Severability 

If any provisions of this Grant Agreement are rendered or declared illegal for any reason, or shall be invalid 

or unenforceable, such provision shall be modified or deleted in such manner so as to afford the Party for 

whose benefit it was intended the fullest benefit commensurate with making this Grant Agreement, as 

modified, enforceable, and  the remainder of this Grant Agreement and the application of such provision 

to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby, but shall be enforced to the greatest extent 

permitted by applicable law.  

1.25 E-Verify 

By entering into this Grant Agreement, grantee certifies and ensures that it utilizes and will continue to 

utilize, for the term of this Grant Agreement, the U.S. Department of Homeland Security's e-Verify system 

to determine the eligibility of (a) all persons employed during the contract term to perform duties within 

Texas; and (b) all persons (including subcontractors) assigned by the grantee pursuant to the Grant 

Agreement. 

1.26 Compliance with Federal Law, Regulations, and Executive Orders 

Grantee acknowledges that federal financial assistance funds will be used to fund the Grant Agreement.  

Grantee will comply with all applicable federal law, regulations, executive orders, policies, procedures, and 

directives. 

1.27 Clean Air Act 

The following is only applicable if the amount of the contract exceeds $150,000. 

a.  Grantee agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders or regulations issued pursuant to 

the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq. 

b.  Grantee agrees to report each violation to TDEM and understands and agrees that TDEM will, in 

turn, report each violation as required to assure notification to the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency, and the appropriate Environmental Protection Agency Regional Office. 

c.  Grantee agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding $150,000 financed 

in whole or in part with federal assistance provided by this Grant Agreement. 

1.28 Federal Water Pollution Control Act 

a.  Grantee agrees to comply with all applicable standards, orders, or regulations issued pursuant to 

the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended, 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq. 

b.  Grantee agrees to report each violation to TDEM and understands and agrees that TDEM will, in 

turn, report each violation as required to assure notification to the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency, and the appropriate Environmental Protection Agency Regional Office. 

c.  Grantee agrees to include these requirements in each subcontract exceeding $150,000 financed 

in whole or in part with federal assistance provided by this Grant Agreement. 

1.29 Suspension and Debarment 

a. This Grant Agreement is a covered transaction for purposes of 2 C.F.R. pt 180 and 2 C.F.R. pt. 

3000.  Grantee certifies that grantee, grantee’s principals (defined at 2C.F.R. Sec. 180.995), or its 



P a g e  13 | 23 

affiliates (defined at 2 C.F.R. Sec. 180.905) are excluded (defined at 2 C.F.R. Sec. 180.940) or 

disqualified (defined at 2 C.F.R. Sec. 180.935). 

b. Grantee must comply with 2 C.F.R. pt. 180, subpart C and 2 C.F.R. pt. 3000, subpart C and must 

include a requirement comply with these regulations in any lower tier covered transaction it 

enters into. 

c. This certification is a material representation of fact relied upon by TDEM.  If it is later determined 

that grantee did not comply with 2 C.F.R. pt. 180, subpart C and 2 C.F.R. pt. 3000, in addition to 

remedies available to TDEM, the Federal Government may pursue available remedies, including 

but limited to suspension and/or debarment. 

1.30 Energy Conservation 

If applicable, grantee agrees to comply with mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency 

which are contained in the state energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and 

Conservation Act.  

1.31 Procurement of Recovered Materials 

a.  In the performance of this Grant Agreement, grantee shall make maximum use of products 

containing recovered materials that are EPA-designated items unless the product cannot be 

acquired –  

(i) Competitively within a timeframe providing for compliance with the contract 

performance schedule; 

(ii) Meeting contract performance requirements; or 

(iii) At a reasonable price. 

b. Information about this requirement, along with the list of EPA-designated items, is available at 

EPA’s Comprehensive Procurement Guidelines web site, 

https://www.epa.gov/smm/comprehensive-procurement-guideline-cpg-program. 

1.32 Terminated Contracts 

The grantee has not had a contract terminated or been denied the renewal of any contract for 
noncompliance with policies or regulations of any state or federally funded program within the past five (5) 
years nor is it currently prohibited from contracting with a governmental agency. If the grantee does have 
such a terminated contract, the grantee shall identify the contract and provide an explanation for the 
termination. The grantee acknowledges that this Grant Agreement may be terminated and payment withheld 
or return of grant funds required if this certification is inaccurate or false.
 

2 Property and Procurement Requirements 

2.1 Property Management and Inventory 

The grantee must ensure equipment purchased with grant funds is used for the purpose of the grant and 
as approved by TDEM. The grantee must develop and implement a control system to prevent loss, damage 
or theft of property and investigate and document any loss, damage or theft of property funded under 
this Grant. 

The grantee must account for any real and personal property acquired with grant funds or received from 

https://www.epa.gov/smm/comprehensive-procurement-guideline-cpg-program


P a g e  14 | 23 

the Federal Government in accordance with 2 CFR 200.310 Insurance coverage through 200.316 Property 
trust relationship and 200.329 Reporting on real property. This documentation must be maintained by the 
grantee, according to the requirements listed herein, and provided to TDEM upon request, if applicable. 

When original or replacement equipment acquired under this award by the grantee is no longer needed 
for the original project or program or for other activities currently or previously supported by the federal 
awarding agency or TDEM, the grantee must make proper disposition of the equipment pursuant to 2 CFR 
200. 

The grantee will maintain specified equipment management and inventory procedures for equipment 
(including replacement equipment), whether acquired in whole or in part with grant funds, until 
disposition takes place, with a per-unit cost of $5,000 or greater. The equipment and inventory procedures 
include: 

A. The grantee must keep an inventory report on file containing equipment purchased with any grant 
funds during the grant period. The inventory report must agree with the approved grant budget 
and the final Financial Status Report and shall be available to TDEM at all times upon request. 

B. The grantee must maintain property/inventory records which, at minimum, include a description 
of the property, a serial number or other identification number, the source of property, who holds 
title, the acquisition date, the cost of the property, the percentage of Federal participation in the 
cost of the property, the location, use and condition of the property, and any ultimate disposition 
data including the date of disposal and sale price of the property. 

C. The grantee shall permanently identify all such equipment by appropriate tags or labels affixed to 
the equipment   Exceptions to this requirement are limited to items where placing of the marking 
is not possible due to the nature of the equipment. 

2.2 Consulting Contracts 

Pre-approval of costs related to consulting contracts is required and the value of consulting contracts 

entered into by the grantee may not exceed 5% of the total funds received by the local unit of government.  

2.3 Procurement Practices and Policies 

The grantee must follow applicable federal and state law, federal procurement standards specified in 
regulations governing federal awards to non-federal entities, their established policy, and best practices for 
procuring goods or services with grant funds. Procurement activities must follow the most restrictive of 
federal, state and local procurement regulations.  Contracts must be routinely monitored for delivery of 
services or goods.  
 
2.4 Contract Provisions Under Federal Awards 

All contracts made by a grantee under a federal award must contain the provisions outlined in 2 CFR 200 
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, 
Appendix II to Part 200 Contract Provisions for Non-Federal Entity Contracts Under Federal Awards. 
 

3 Audit and Records Requirements 

3.1 Cooperation with Monitoring, Audits, and Records Requirements 

All records and expenditures are subject to, and grantee agrees to comply with, monitoring and/or audits 
conducted by the United States Department of Treasury’s Inspector General (DOTIG), TDEM, and the State 



P a g e  15 | 23 

Auditor’s Office (SAO) or designee. The grantee shall maintain under GAAP or GASB, adequate records that 
enable DOTIG, TDEM, and SAO to ensure proper accounting for all costs and performances related to this 
Grant Agreement. 

3.2 Single Audit Requirements 

Any grantee expending $750,000 or more in federal funds in a fiscal year may be subject to Single Audit 
Requirements in 2 CFR, Part 200, Subpart F – Audit Requirements, at https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-
idx?tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl.     

The grantees expending more than $750,000 in state funds in a fiscal year are subject to the requirements 
in the Texas Single Audit Circular, at https://comptroller.texas.gov/purchasing/docs/ugms.pdf.The audit 
must be completed and the data collection and reporting package described in 2 CFR 200.512 must be 
submitted to the Federal Audit Clearinghouse (FAC) within 30 calendar days after receipt of the auditor's 
report(s), or nine months after the end of the audit period, whichever is earlier. 

3.3 Requirement to Address Audit Findings 

If any audit, monitoring, investigations, review of awards, or other compliance review reveals any 
discrepancies, inadequacies, or deficiencies which are necessary to correct in order  to maintain 
compliance with this Grant Agreement, applicable laws, regulations, or the grantee's obligations 
hereunder, the grantee agrees to propose and submit to TDEM a corrective action plan to correct such 
discrepancies or inadequacies within thirty (30) calendar days after the grantee's receipt of the findings. 
The grantee's corrective action plan is subject to the approval of TDEM. 

The grantee understands and agrees that the grantee must make every effort to address and resolve all 
outstanding issues, findings, or actions identified by DOTIG, TDEM, or SAO through the corrective action 
plan or any other corrective plan. Failure to promptly and adequately address these findings may result in 
grant funds being withheld, other related requirements being imposed, or other sanctions and penalties. 
The grantee agrees to complete any corrective action approved by TDEM within the time period specified 
by TDEM and to the satisfaction of TDEM, at the sole cost of the grantee. The grantee shall provide to 
TDEM periodic status reports regarding the grantee's resolution of any audit, corrective action plan, or 
other compliance activity for which the grantee is responsible. 

3.4 Records Retention 

A. The grantee shall maintain appropriate audit trails to provide accountability for all expenditures of 
grant funds, reporting measures, and funds received from TDEM under this Grant Agreement. Audit 
trails maintained by the grantee will, at a minimum, identify the supporting documentation prepared 
by the grantee to permit an audit of its accounting systems and payment verification with respect to 
the expenditure of any funds awarded under this Grant Agreement.  

B. The grantee must maintain fiscal records and supporting documentation for all expenditures 
resulting from this Grant Agreement pursuant to 2 CFR 200.333 and state law. 

1. The grantee must retain these records and any supporting documentation for a minimum of 
seven (7) years from the later of the completion of this project's public objective, submission of 
the final expenditure report, any litigation, dispute, or audit. 

2. Records related to real property and equipment acquired with grant funds shall be retained for 
seven (7) years after final disposition. 

3. TDEM may direct a grantee to retain documents for longer periods of time or to transfer certain 
records to TDEM or federal custody when it is determined that the records possess long term 

https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl
https://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title02/2cfr200_main_02.tpl
https://comptroller.texas.gov/purchasing/docs/ugms.pdf


P a g e  16 | 23 

retention value. 

 

4 Prohibited and Regulated Activities and Expenditures 

4.1 Prohibited Costs 

A. Funds may not be used to fill shortfalls in government revenue to cover expenditures that would not 
otherwise qualify under the statute.  Revenue replacement is not a permissible use of these grant 
funds.  In accordance with Section 3.1 all record and expenditures are subject to review. 

B. Damages covered by insurance. 

C. Payroll or benefits expenses for employees whose work duties are not substantially dedicated to 
mitigating or responding to the COVID-19 public health emergency. 

D. Duplication of benefits including expenses that have been or will be reimbursed under any other 
federal program. 

E. Reimbursement to donors for donated items or services. 

F. Workforce bonuses other than hazard pay or overtime. 

G. Severance pay. 

H. Legal settlements. 

4.2 Political Activities 

Grant funds may not be used in connection with the following acts by agencies or individuals employed by 
grant funds: 

A. Unless specifically authorized to do so by federal law, grant recipients or their grantees or 
contractors are prohibited from using grant funds directly or indirectly for political purposes, 
including lobbying or advocating for legislative programs or changes; campaigning for, endorsing, 
contributing to, or otherwise supporting political candidates or parties; and voter registration or 
get-out-the-vote campaigns. Generally, organizations or entities which receive federal funds by 
way of grants, contracts, or cooperative agreements do not lose their rights as organizations to 
use their own, private, non-federal resources for “political” activities because of or as a 
consequence of receiving such federal funds. These recipient organizations must thus use private 
or other non-federal money, receipts, contributions, or dues for their political activities, and may 
not charge off to or be reimbursed from federal contracts or grants for the costs of such activities. 

B. Grant officials or grant funded employees may not use official authority or influence or permit the 
use of a program administered by the grantee agency of which the person is an officer or employee 
to interfere with or affect the result of an election or nomination of a candidate or to achieve any 
other political purpose. 

C. Grant-funded employees may not coerce, attempt to coerce, command, restrict, attempt to 
restrict, or prevent the payment, loan, or contribution of anything of value to a person or political 
organization for a political purpose. 

D. Grant funds may not be used to employ, as a regular full-time or part-time or contract employee, 
a person who is required by Chapter 305 of the Government Code to register as a lobbyist. 
Furthermore, grant funds may not be used to pay, on behalf of the agency or an officer or 
employee of the agency, membership dues to an organization that pays part or all of the salary of 



P a g e  17 | 23 

a person who is required by Chapter 305 of the Government Code to register as a lobbyist. 

E. As applicable, the grantee and each contracting tier will comply with 31 USC § 1352, which 
provides that none of the funds provided under an award may be expended by the grantee to pay 
any person to influence, or attempt to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member 
of Congress, an officer of employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in 
connection with any Federal action concerning the award or renewal.  Grantee shall file the 
required certification attached hereto and incorporated for all purposes as Exhibit F.  Each 
contracting tier shall also disclose any lobbying with non-federal funds that takes place in 
connection with obtaining any Federal award.  Such disclosures are forwarded from tier to tier up 
to the recipient. 

 

5 Financial Requirements 

5.1 Direct Deposit  

A completed direct deposit form from the grantee must be provided to TDEM prior to receiving any 
payments.  The direct deposit form is currently available at https://grants.tdem.texas.gov/. 

5.2 Payments and Required Documentation 

Funding for this Grant Agreement is appropriated under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security 
Act, 2020 (Public Law 116-136) enacted on March 27, 2020, as amended, to facilitate protective measures 
for and recovery from the public health emergency in areas affected by COVID-19, which are Presidentially-
declared major disaster areas under Title IV of the Robert T. Stafford Disaster Relief and Emergency 
Assistance Act (42 U.S.C. 5121 et seq.).  All expenditures under this Grant Agreement must be made in 
accordance with this Grant Agreement and any other applicable laws, rules or regulations. Further, grantee 
acknowledges that all funds are subject to recapture and repayment for non-compliance pursuant to 
Section 5.7 below. 

Payment of funds on projects may be initiated by the grantee through a Request for Reimbursement 
(RFR) in GMS. 

Grantee may initiate an Advance of Funds Request (AFR) through GMS for an initial cash advance to cover 
actual costs incurred or up to 20% of their total allocation, whichever is larger.  

Additional advances or reimbursement requests may be requested following full reporting to TDEM of 
expenses incurred and applied against the initial and/or any subsequent advance payments. 

If sufficient progress is not made towards expenditure of advanced funds and/or the grantee fails to meet 
financial reporting obligations, TDEM may implement sanctions as necessary up to and including grant 
termination. 

All documentation for expenditures paid during the project period must be submitted to TDEM on or 
before the grant liquidation date. 

5.3 Financial Reporting 

Financial reports must be submitted to TDEM on a quarterly basis via GMS but can be submitted more 
often as necessary to draw down funds.  

The final financial report must be submitted to TDEM on or before the grant liquidation date or the grant 
funds may lapse and TDEM will provide them as grants to other eligible jurisdictions.  

https://grants.tdem.texas.gov/


P a g e  18 | 23 

5.4 Reimbursements 

TDEM will be obligated to reimburse the grantee for the expenditure of actual and allowable allocable 
costs incurred and paid by the grantee pursuant to this Grant Agreement. TDEM is not obligated to pay 
unauthorized costs or to reimburse expenses that were incurred by the grantee prior to the 
commencement or after the termination of this Grant Agreement. 

5.5 Refunds and Deductions 

If TDEM determines that the grantee has been overpaid any grant funds under this Grant Agreement, 
including payments made inadvertently or payments made but later determined to not be actual and 
allowable allocable costs, the grantee shall return to TDEM the amount identified by TDEM as an 
overpayment. The grantee shall refund any overpayment to TDEM within thirty (30) calendar days of the 

receipt of the notice of the overpayment from TDEM unless an alternate payment plan is specified by TDEM.  
Refunds may be remitted to:  Texas Division of Emergency Management, P.O. Box 15467, Austin, Texas 
78761. 

5.6 Recapture of Funds 

The discretionary right of TDEM to terminate for convenience under Section 1.13 notwithstanding, TDEM 
shall have the right to terminate the Grant Agreement and to recapture, and be reimbursed for any 
payments made by TDEM: (i) that are not allowed under applicable laws, rules, and regulations; or (ii) that 
are otherwise inconsistent with this Grant Agreement, including any unapproved expenditures. 

5.7 Liquidation Period 

Grant funds will liquidate 90 calendar days following the project period end date or on December 30, 2020, 
whichever is earlier. Funds not obligated by the end of the grant period and not expended by the 
liquidation date will revert to TDEM. 

5.8 Project Close Out 

TDEM will close-out the grant award when it determines that all applicable administrative actions and all 
required work of the grant have been completed by the grantee. 

The grantee must submit all financial, performance, and other reports as required by the terms and 
conditions of the grant award.  

The grantee must promptly refund any balances of unobligated cash that TDEM paid in advance or paid and 

that are not authorized to be retained by the grantee for use in other projects. 
 
 
 

[EXHIBITS AND SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS] 
 



 

P a g e  19 | 23 

EXHIBIT A 

EXHIBIT A - State of Texas Assurances  
 
As the duly authorized representative of Grantee, I certify that Grantee:  
 

1. Shall comply with Texas Government Code, Chapter 573, by ensuring that no officer, employee, or member of the grantee’s governing 

body or of the grantee’s contractor shall vote or confirm the employment of any person related within the second degree of affinity or the 

third degree of consanguinity to any member of the governing body or to any other officer or employee authorized to employ or supervise 

such person. This prohibition shall not prohibit the employment of a person who shall have been continuously employed for a period of 

two years, or such other period stipulated by local law, prior to the election or appointment of the officer, employee, or governing body 

member related to such person in the prohibited degree.  

2. Shall insure that all information collected, assembled, or maintained by the grantee relative to a project will be available to the public 

during normal business hours in compliance with Texas Government Code, Chapter 552, unless otherwise expressly prohibited by law.  

3. Shall comply with Texas Government Code, Chapter 551, which requires all regular, special, or called meetings of governmental bodies 

to be open to the public, except as otherwise provided by law or specifically permitted in the Texas Constitution.  

4. Shall comply with Section 231.006, Texas Family Code, which prohibits payments to a person who is in arrears on child support payments.  

5. Shall not contract with or issue a license, certificate, or permit to the owner, operator, or administrator of a facility if the grantee is a health, 

human services, public safety, or law enforcement agency and the license, permit, or certificate has been revoked by another health and 

human services agency or public safety or law enforcement agency.  

6. Shall comply with all rules adopted by the Texas Commission on Law Enforcement pursuant to Chapter 1701, Texas Occupations Code, 

or shall provide the grantor agency with a certification from the Texas Commission on Law Enforcement that the agency is in the process 

of achieving compliance with such rules if the grantee is a law enforcement agency regulated by Texas Occupations Code, Chapter 1701.  

7. Shall follow all assurances. When incorporated into a grant award or contract, standard assurances contained in the application package 

become terms or conditions for receipt of grant funds. Administering state agencies and grantees shall maintain an appropriate contract 

administration system to insure that all terms, conditions, and specifications are met. (See UGMS Section _.36 for additional guidance on 

contract provisions).  

8. Shall comply with the Texas Family Code, Section 261.101, which requires reporting of all suspected cases of child abuse to local law 

enforcement authorities and to the Texas Department of Child Protective and Regulatory Services. Grantee shall also ensure that all 

program personnel are properly trained and aware of this requirement.  

9. Shall comply with all federal statutes relating to nondiscrimination. These include but are not limited to: (a) Title VI of the Civil Rights 

Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352), which prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, or national origin; (b) Title IX of the Education 

Amendments of 1972, as amended (20 U.S.C. §§1681-1683, and 1685-1686), which prohibits discrimination on the basis of sex; (c) Section 

504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended (29 U.S.C. §794), which prohibits discrimination on the basis of handicaps and the 

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 including Titles I, II, and III of the Americans with Disability Act which prohibits recipients from 

discriminating on the basis of disability in the operation of public entities, public and private transportation systems, places of public 

accommodation, and certain testing entities, 44 U.S.C. §§ 12101-12213; (d) the Age Discrimination Act of 1974, as amended (42 U.S.C. 

§§6101-6107), which prohibits discrimination on the basis of age; (e) the Drug Abuse Office and Treatment Act of 1972 (P.L. 92-255), as 

amended, relating to nondiscrimination on the basis of drug abuse; (f) the Comprehensive Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism Prevention, 

Treatment, and Rehabilitation Act of 1970 (P.L. 91-616), as amended, relating to the nondiscrimination on the basis of alcohol abuse or 

alcoholism; (g) §§523 and 527 of the Public Health Service Act of 1912 (42 U.S.C. §§290dd-3 and 290ee-3), as amended, relating to 

confidentiality of alcohol and drug abuse patient records; (h) Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. §§3601 et seq.), as 

amended, relating to nondiscrimination in the sale, rental, or financing of housing; (i) any other nondiscrimination provisions in the specific 

statute(s) under which application for Federal assistance is being made; and (j) the requirements of any other nondiscrimination statute(s) 

which may apply to this Grant.  

10. Shall comply, as applicable, with the provisions of the Davis-Bacon Act (40 U.S.C. §§276a to 276a-7), the Copeland Act (40 U.S.C. 

§276c and 18 U.S.C. §874), and the Contract Work Hours and Safety Standards Act (40 U.S.C. §§327-333), regarding labor standards for 

federally assisted construction subagreements.  

11. Shall comply with requirements of the provisions of the Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisitions Act of 1970 (P.L. 

91-646), which provide for fair and equitable treatment of persons displaced or whose property is acquired as a result of Federal or federally 

assisted programs. These requirements apply to all interests in real property acquired for project purposes regardless of Federal participation 

in purchases.  

12. Shall comply with the provisions of the Hatch Political Activity Act (5 U.S.C. §§7321-29), which limit the political activity of employees 

whose principal employment activities are funded in whole or in part with Federal funds.  

13. Shall comply with the minimum wage and maximum hours provisions of the Federal Fair Labor Standards Act and the Intergovernmental 

Personnel Act of 1970, as applicable.   



 

P a g e  20 | 23 

EXHIBIT A 

 

14. Shall insure that the facilities under its ownership, lease, or supervision which shall be utilized in the accomplishment of the project are 

not listed on the Environmental Protection Agency’s (EPA) list of Violating Facilities and that it will notify the Federal grantor agency 

of the receipt of any communication from the Director of the EPA Office of Federal Activities indicating that a facility to be used in the 

project is under consideration for listing by the EPA (EO 11738). 

15. Shall comply with the flood insurance purchase requirements of Section 102(a) of the Flood Disaster Protection Act of 1973, Public Law 

93-234. Section 102(a) requires the purchase of flood insurance in communities where such insurance is available as a condition for the 

receipt of any Federal financial assistance for construction or acquisition proposed for use in any area that has been identified by the 

Secretary of the Department of Housing and Urban Development as an area having special flood hazards. 

16. Shall comply with environmental standards which may be prescribed pursuant to the following: (a) institution of environmental quality 

control measures under the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (P.L. 91-190) and Executive Order (EO) 11514; (b) notification 

of violating facilities pursuant to EO 11738; (c) protection of wetlands pursuant to EO 11990; (d) evaluation of flood hazards in 

floodplains in accordance with EO 11988; (e) assurance of project consistency with the approved state management program developed 

under the Coastal Zone Management Act of 1972 (16 U.S.C. §§1451 et seq.); (f) conformity of federal actions to State (Clear Air) 

Implementation Plans under Section 176(c) of the Clear Air Act of 1955, as amended (42 U.S.C. §§7401 et seq.); (g) protection of 

underground sources of drinking water under the Safe Drinking Water Act of 1974, as amended (P.L. 93-523); and (h) protection of 

endangered species under the Endangered Species Act of 1973, as amended (P.L. 93-205). 

17. Shall comply with the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act of 1968 (16 U.S.C. §§1271 et seq.) related to protecting components or potential 

components of the national wild and scenic rivers system. 

18. Shall assist the awarding agency in assuring compliance with Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended 

(16 U.S.C. §470), EO 11593 (identification and protection of historic properties), and the Archaeological and Historic Preservation Act 

of 1974 (16 U.S.C. §§469a-1 et seq.). 

19. Shall comply with the Laboratory Animal Welfare Act of 1966 (P.L. 89-544, as amended, 7 U.S.C. §§2131 et seq.) which requires the 

minimum standards of care and treatment for vertebrate animals bred for commercial sale, used in research, transported commercially, or 

exhibited to the public according to the Guide for Care and Use of Laboratory Animals and Public Health Service Policy and Government 

Principals Regarding the Care and Use of Animals. 

20. Shall comply with the Lead-Based Paint Poisoning Prevention Act (42 U.S.C. §§4801 et seq.) which prohibits the use of lead-based paint 

in construction or rehabilitation of residential structures. 

21. Shall comply with the Pro-Children Act of 1994 (Public Law 103-277), which prohibits smoking within any portion of any indoor facility 

used for the provision of services for children. 

22. Shall comply with all federal tax laws and are solely responsible for filing all required state and federal tax forms. 

23. Shall comply with all applicable requirements of all other federal and state laws, executive orders, regulations, and policies governing 

this program. 

24. And its principals are eligible to participate and have not been subjected to suspension, debarment, or similar ineligibility determined by 

any federal, state, or local governmental entity and it is not listed on a state or federal government’s terrorism watch list as described in 

Executive Order 13224. Entities ineligible for federal procurement have Exclusions listed at https://www.sam.gov/portal/public/SAM/. 

25. Shall adopt and implement applicable provisions of the model HIV/AIDS work place guidelines of the Texas Department of Health as 

required by the Texas Health and Safety Code, Ann., Sec. 85.001, et seq. 

26. Shall comply with the Drug-Free Workplace Rules established by the Texas Worker’s Compensation Commission effective April 17, 

1991.



 

P a g e  21 | 23 

EXHIBIT B 

EXHIBIT B – CARES ACT CORONAVIRUS RELIEF FUND ELIGIBILITY CERTIFICATION  
 

 

I, ____________________, am the County Judge, Mayor or City Manager of _______________________ 
(“County”/”Municipality”), and I certify that: 

1. I have the authority on behalf of County/Municipality to request grant payments from the State of 
Texas (“State”) for federal funds appropriated pursuant to section 601 of the Social Security Act, as 
added by section 5001 of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, Pub. L. No. 116-136, 
div. A, Title V (Mar. 27, 2020). 

2. I understand that the State will rely on this certification as a material representation in making grant 
payments to the County/Municipality.  

3. I acknowledge that County should keep records sufficient to demonstrate that the expenditure of 
funds it has received is in accordance with section 601(d) of the Social Security Act. 

4. I acknowledge that all records and expenditures are subject to audit by the United States Department 
of Treasury’s Inspector General, the Texas Division of Emergency Management, and the Texas State 
Auditor’s Office, or designee.   

5. I acknowledge that County has an affirmative obligation to identify and report any duplication of 
benefits. I understand that the State has an obligation and the authority to deobligate or offset any 
duplicated benefits.   

6. I acknowledge and agree that County/Municipality shall be liable for any costs disallowed pursuant to 
financial or compliance audits of funds received.  

7. I acknowledge that if County has not used funds it has received to cover costs that were incurred by 
December 30, 2020, as required by the statute, those funds must be returned to the United States 
Department of the Treasury. 

8. I acknowledge that the County/Municipality’s proposed uses of the funds provided as grant payments 
from the State by federal appropriation under section 601 of the Social Security Act will be used only 
to cover those costs that: 

a. are necessary expenditures incurred due to the public health emergency and 
governor’s disaster declaration on March 13, 2020 with respect to the Coronavirus 
Disease 2019 (COVID-19); 

b. were not accounted for in the budget most recently approved as of March 27, 2020, 
for County/Municipality; and 

c. were incurred during the period that begins on March 1, 2020 and ends on December 
30, 2020. 

In addition to each of the statements above, I acknowledge on submission of this certification that my jurisdiction 

has incurred eligible expenses between March 1, 2020 and the date noted below. 

By: _________________________________ 

Signature:____________________________ 

Title:________________________________ 

Date:________________________________ 



 

P a g e  22 | 23 

EXHIBIT C 

 

EXHIBIT C - CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING 
 
 

Certification for Contracts, Grants, Loans, and Cooperative Agreements 
 
The undersigned grantee, ______________________, certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge that: 
 

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the undersigned, to 

any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of an agency, a Member 

of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in 

connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the making of 

any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, and the extension, continuation, 

renewal, amendment, or modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for 
influencing or attempting to influence any officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, 
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this 
Federal contract, grant, loan or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall complete and submit 
Standard Form – LLL, “Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,” in accordance with its instructions. 

 
3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 

documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts under grants, 
loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and disclose accordingly. 

 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction was 

made or entered into.  Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction 

imposed by 31 U.S.C. Sec. 1352 (as amended by the Lobbying Disclosure Act of 119).  Any person who fails to file 

the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 

for each such failure. 

 

The grantee, ___________________, certifies or affirms the truthfulness and accuracy of each statement of its 

certification and disclosure, if any.  In addition, grantee understands and agrees that the provisions of 31 U.S.C. 

Sec. 3801 et seq. apply to his certification and disclosure, if any. 

 

 
 

By: _________________________________ 

Signature:____________________________ 

Title:________________________________ 

Date:________________________________ 



P a g e  30 | 30 

SIGNATURE PAGE 

Please initial by each Exhibit, acknowledging you have received them, understand them, and agree to abide by 
them.  
 
 
______ State of Texas Assurances, hereinafter referred to as “Exhibit A”  
 
______ CARES Act Coronavirus Relief Fund Eligibility Certification, hereinafter referred to as “Exhibit B”  
 
______ Certification Regarding Lobbying, hereinafter referred to as “Exhibit C”  
 
 
Please sign below to acknowledged acceptance of the grant and all exhibits in this Grant Agreement, and to 
abide by all terms and conditions.  
 
 

By: _________________________________ 

Signature:____________________________  

Title:________________________________ 

Date:________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 



          ITEM 3.1                                           
 

Addendum to City Council Agenda 
Department and Committee Reports/Briefings 

 
The items listed below include subjects that are of interest to the City Council.  The Council may 
or may not receive a briefing dependent upon activity or change in status regarding the matter.  
This listing is provided to give notice to the public that a briefing to the Council on any or all 
subjects may occur. 
 
A.  Administrative Services 
 1.  Economic Development Corporation 
 2.  Burnet Municipal Airport 
 3.  Commemorative Air Force/Museum   
 4.  Special Projects 
 5.  Adminstrative Procedures 
 
B.  Department of Finance 
 1.  Utilities  
 2.  Human Resources 
 3.  Budget and Finance Reports 
  
C.  Municipal Court 
 1. Quarterly Reports 
 
D.  City Secretary 
 1. Records Management  4.  Special Projects or Activities 
 2. Elections    5.  Interlocal Agreements and Leases 
 3. Boards and Commissions  6.  Administration 
   
E.  Police Department 
 1.  Animal Control   2.  School Resource Officer 
 3.  Reports 
 
F.  Fire Department 
 1. Emergency Medical Services 2. Emergency Management 
 3. Administration 
 
G.  Public Works 
 1.  Electric Department  4.  Street Department/Shop 
 2.  Water/Wastewater Department    
 3.  Parks/Maintenance 
  
H.  Delaware Springs Golf Course 
 
I.  Development Services 
 1.  Code Enforcement  5.  Planning and Zoning 
 2.  Cemetery   6.  Board of Adjustments 
 3.  Floodplain   7.  Building Inspection & Permitting  


	05-19-2020 Special Council Meeting Agenda
	Item 1.1 20-05-12 SM Minutes
	Item 2.1 COVID-19 Processes-plans
	Agenda Item Brief

	Item 2.2 Financial Projections
	Agenda Item Brief

	Item 2.3 Utility Accounts-Direction
	Agenda Item Brief

	Item 2.4 CARES Grant Submission
	Agenda Item Brief

	Item 2.4 CARES Grant Submission-Attachment 1
	Counties_Cities_CRF
	CRF-Allocations-for-Texas-Jurisdictions-5.12.20-V3
	TX CRF Allocations

	CRF-Certification-Signature-Pages
	CRF-Terms-and-Conditions_Final

	Item 3.1 Reports Addendum to City Council Agenda

